

COMPOSITIO MATHEMATICA

De Rham–Witt sheaves via algebraic cycles

Amalendu Krishna and Jinhyun Park

Compositio Math. 157 (2021), 2089–2132.

 ${\rm doi:} 10.1112/S0010437X21007478$







De Rham-Witt sheaves via algebraic cycles

Amalendu Krishna and Jinhyun Park

With an appendix by Kay Rülling

Abstract

We show that the additive higher Chow groups of regular schemes over a field induce a Zariski sheaf of pro-differential graded algebras, the Milnor range of which is isomorphic to the Zariski sheaf of big de Rham–Witt complexes. This provides an explicit cycle-theoretic description of the big de Rham–Witt sheaves. Several applications are derived.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	2090
	1.1	Motivation	2090
	1.2	The main result	2091
	1.3	Applications	2091
	1.4	Outline of proofs	2092
2	Mil	nor K-theory and de Rham-Witt complex	2093
	2.1	Conventions	2093
	2.2	Milnor <i>K</i> -groups	2093
	2.3	The ring of Witt vectors	
	2.4	The de Rham-Witt complex	
	2.5	The p-typicalization of de Rham–Witt complex	
	2.6	Néron-Popescu approximation	
	2.7	Some properties of de Rham-Witt complexes	2097
3	The	e additive higher Chow groups	2099
	3.1	Higher Chow groups	2099
	3.2	Additive higher Chow groups	
	3.3	Some properties	
	3.4	Subcomplexes associated to some algebraic subsets	2100
	3.5	Atlas for semi-local k-schemes	2101
	3.6	The fs- and sfs-cycles	2101
	3.7	Additive higher Chow groups of fs- and sfs-cycles	2103

Received 2 April 2020, accepted in final form 20 January 2021, published online 19 August 2021. 2020 Mathematics Subject Classification 14C25 (primary), 13F35, 14F30, 19E15 (secondary). Keywords: algebraic cycles, de Rham–Witt complex, crystalline cohomology.

J.P. was partially supported by the National Research Foundation of Korea (NRF; grant numbers 2015R1A2A2A01004120 and 2018R1A2B6002287) funded by the Korean government (MSIP), and TJ Park Junior Faculty Fellowship funded by POSCO TJ Park Foundation.

^{© 2021} The Author(s). The publishing rights in this article are licensed to Foundation Compositio Mathematica under an exclusive licence.

4	Wit	t-complex structure on additive higher Chow groups	2103	
	4.1	Witt-complex structure for smooth algebras	2103	
	4.2	Witt-complex structure for regular algebras	2107	
5	The	de Rham-Witt-Chow homomorphism	2109	
	5.1	The homomorphism $\tau_{n,m}^R$	2109	
	5.2	Traceability		
6	The	proof of the main result	2115	
	6.1	Symbolicity of sfs-cycles	2115	
	6.2	The finite field case	2116	
	6.3	The general case	2118	
	6.4	p-typicalization of additive Chow groups	2118	
7	App	lications	2119	
	7.1	Crystalline cohomology via algebraic cycles	2119	
	7.2	Gersten conjecture for additive higher Chow groups	2120	
	7.3	Applications to algebraic K -theory	2122	
	7.4	Milnor K -theory and de Rham–Witt complex	2122	
	7.5	Application to motivic cohomology	2124	
	7.6	Trace maps for de Rham–Witt complex	2124	
	7.7	Galois descent for additive higher Chow groups	2126	
Acknowledgements 21				
\mathbf{Ap}	pend	ix A. The de Rham-Witt complex and additive Chow groups		
	over	a field: the characteristic 2 case	2127	
	A. 1		2127	
	A.2		2128	
	A.3		2128	
Re	References			

1. Introduction

1.1 Motivation

For a presheaf \mathcal{F} on the category of smooth schemes essentially of finite type over a field with values in abelian groups, it is often desirable to describe the values of \mathcal{F} in terms of algebraic cycles because the cycles are usually relatively explicit by nature.

For instance, by the results of Bloch [Blo86], Bloch and Lichtenbaum [BL95], Friedlander and Suslin [FS02] and Levine [Lev08], one knows that the higher algebraic K-groups of smooth schemes over a field can be described in terms of the higher Chow groups of Bloch through a spectral sequence. A property of K-theory of smooth schemes that helps achieve this is its \mathbb{A}^1 -invariance. However, there are several presheaves on smooth schemes which do not satisfy the \mathbb{A}^1 -invariance property and for which one often has to seek a description in terms of algebraic cycles.

Examples of non- \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant presheaves we have in mind are the differential forms and the K-theory of non-reduced infinitesimal extensions of smooth schemes. These are some of the most useful presheaves on the category of smooth schemes over a field, as they carry significant information about the underlying schemes. Perhaps in order to study this question for these two presheaves, Bloch and Esnault [BE03a, BE03b] invented the additive higher Chow groups of fields. This is related to earlier works of Bloch (e.g. [Blo73]) on the study of the tangent space to the space of cycles and K-theory. The additive higher Chow groups were subsequently defined and studied for more general schemes in the works of Krishna and Levine [KL08], Park [Par09] and Rülling [Rül07a].

The results of [BE03a] and [BE03b] suggest that additive higher Chow groups could be useful in describing the above two non-A¹-invariant presheaves in terms of algebraic cycles. Soon after, Rülling [Rül07a] proved a more general result that when the underlying scheme is the spectrum of a field, the big de Rham–Witt complex of Hesselholt and Madsen [HM01] is isomorphic to a complex consisting of additive higher Chow groups of the field.

1.2 The main result

The purpose of this paper is to show that the sheaf of big de Rham–Witt complexes on the big Zariski site of all regular schemes essentially of finite type over any field coincides with the sheaf of complexes of the (Milnor range of) additive higher Chow groups. Among several consequences, this provides a new description of the crystalline cohomology of smooth quasi-projective schemes over a perfect field purely in terms of algebraic cycles. This is the cycle-theoretic avatar of Bloch's description of the crystalline cohomology via algebraic K-theory [Blo77]. The main result from which we derive the above is as follows.

THEOREM 1.1. Let k be an arbitrary field and let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Then, for all $m, n \ge 1$, there are isomorphisms between the big de Rham-Witt forms and the additive higher Chow groups

$$\tau_{n,m}^R \colon \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{TCH}^n(R, n; m),$$
(1.1)

which are natural in R. In particular, the additive higher Chow groups of $\operatorname{Spec}(R)$ in the Milnor range form the universal restricted Witt complex over R.

Theorem 1.1 is a direct extension of Rülling's theorem [Rül07a] proven originally for fields to the case of regular semi-local algebras over fields. This can also be considered as a non- \mathbb{A}^1 -invariant analogue of the results of Elbaz-Vincent and Müller-Stach [EM02] and Kerz [Ker09, Ker10], which together imply that the Milnor K-theory of such rings are isomorphic to their higher Chow groups. The corresponding result for fields was shown by Totaro [Tot92].

1.3 Applications

The first interesting consequence of Theorem 1.1 is that it provides new geometric perspectives to the Witt vectors and the de Rham-Witt forms. Take n=1, for instance. Then the map $\tau_{1,m}^R$ is a ring isomorphism. The underlying abelian group of the ring $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is not so difficult to understand. However, its product structure is notoriously complicated. The ring isomorphism $\tau_{1,m}^R$ then shows that the addition of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ corresponds simply to the summation of algebraic cycles in $\mathrm{TCH}^1(R,1;m)$, while the complicated multiplication of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ corresponds to a simple Pontryagin-intersection product of algebraic cycles, thus giving a conceptual and simple description of the ring structure of Witt vectors.

For general $n \geq 1$, the differential operator, the wedge product, and Frobenius and Verschiebung operators on $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{\bullet}$ are nontrivial objects to describe. However, their counterparts for additive higher Chow groups are simply the Pontryagin intersection, flat pull-back and finite push-forward of algebraic cycles.

Apart from the above, we derive several further applications of Theorem 1.1. We show that the additive higher Chow groups have p-typical decomposition in characteristic p > 0. Using this and Theorem 1.1, we show that the crystalline cohomology of smooth quasi-projective schemes over a perfect field is motivic in a broad sense. We also show using Theorem 1.1 and the results of [Hes05] that the algebraic K-theory of the truncated polynomial algebras over regular semi-local rings over a field admit descriptions through cycles.

We show that in characteristic p > 0, the mod-p motivic cohomology and mod-p Milnor as well as Quillen K-theory Zariski sheaves on regular schemes over a field coincide with the sheaf of p-typical additive higher Chow groups. We also deduce a Gersten resolution for additive higher Chow groups in the sense that the Cousin complex of the Zariski sheaf of additive higher Chow groups on a regular scheme essentially of finite type over a field is exact. These results show that the p-typical additive higher Chow groups provide cycle-theoretic descriptions of existing mod-p cohomology theories of regular schemes.

In another application, we use Theorem 1.1 and the existence of push-forward maps for additive higher Chow groups to give new and direct construction of the theory of trace maps on big de Rham—Witt complexes of regular algebras essentially of finite type over a field. Such a theory is abstractly known to exist (in the *p*-typical case) by the duality theory for de Rham—Witt complex by Ekedahl [Eke84]. However, Ekedahl's theory of trace is obtained using the complicated machinery of Grothendieck duality in the derived category of quasi-coherent sheaves over the sheaves of *p*-typical Witt vectors. This makes it very hard to work with his trace. The construction of trace was also previously known for the de Rham—Witt complex of fields (see [Rül07a]). It follows a posteriori that Ekedahl's trace and the push-forward of cycles are compatible, and the traces now have more explicit descriptions. See Theorems 7.8 and 7.9.

In our final application, we use the Galois descent property of the de Rham–Witt complex to prove a similar descent for the additive higher chow groups of regular semi-local algebras over a field. The precise versions of these applications are given in § 7. In addition to these, Theorem 1.1 also plays a crucial role in the proofs of the main results of [GK19] and [GK20].

1.4 Outline of proofs

The proof of Theorem 1.1 relies on several results of previous papers of the authors. Among these, the works of Krishna and Park [KP15, KP16, KP20] play major roles. The first step in the proof of Theorem 1.1 is to construct the 'de Rham-Witt-Chow homomorphism' $\tau_{n,m}^R$ from the big de Rham-Witt complex $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^{n-1}$ of a regular semi-local ring R to its additive higher Chow groups $\mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m)$. This itself is non-trivial and requires us to show that the additive higher Chow groups of R form a restricted Witt-complex over R in the sense of [Rül07a, Definition 1.14]. Modulo a new limit argument in the case of imperfect base fields discussed in the present article, the proof of this step was the main purpose of the papers [KP15] and [KP16].

The next step is to show that de Rham–Witt–Chow homomorphism $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is injective. This is not hard. We use a reduction step and a Gersten-type result for the de Rham–Witt complex to reduce to the case where R is a field. The latter case is due to Rülling [Rül07a] (and see the appendix for the characteristic 2 case).

The surjectivity of $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is a difficult part of the proof of Theorem 1.1. In order to achieve this, we follow several reduction steps. We first prove this in the case when k is infinite and perfect. To deal with this case, we rely on the 'sfs-moving lemma' of [KP20] (see Theorem 3.6). When the base field is finite, we use a pro- ℓ extension trick to reduce it to the case of infinite perfect base fields. The remaining case when k is imperfect is reduced to when k is perfect using a limit argument.

For the infinite perfect base field case, using the sfs-moving lemma, we prove that for a given cycle $\alpha \in \mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m)$, we can find a finite extension of regular semi-local k-algebras $f: R \to R'$, and a cycle $\alpha' \in \mathrm{TCH}^n(R',n;m)$ such that: (1) $f_*(\alpha') = \alpha$ and (2) α' is 'symbolic', i.e. lies in the image of $\tau_{n,m}^{R'}$. The problem we face now is that we do not know how to conclude from this that α is symbolic using the existing theory of trace maps for de Rham-Witt forms due

to Ekedahl [Eke84] (see § 7.6). To circumvent this problem, we devise a technique of *traceability* of de Rham–Witt forms via cycles.

The traceability of a form $\omega' \in \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R'}^{n-1}$ yields a trace element of ω' in $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1}$ up to images in the additive higher Chow groups. This luckily suffices for our purpose. We show, by factoring the extension $R \to R'$ into a composition of simple extensions, that every form in $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R'}^{n-1}$ is traceable to R (i.e. has a trace element in $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1}$), see Proposition 5.9. The proof of this requires us to work with $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1}$ for all $m \ge 1$ and $n \ge 1$ simultaneously rather than working with these groups individually. This uses the full strength of the Witt complex structures on de Rham–Witt forms and additive higher Chow groups, and also the fact that $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is a morphism of Witt complexes. The traceability allows us to find a pre-image of α in $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1}$.

We recall the definitions of Milnor K-theory and de Rham–Witt complex, and then prove some of their properties in § 2. We recall the definitions of additive higher Chow groups and some basic results on them in § 3. The main result of § 4 is to prove the restricted Witt-complex structure on the additive higher Chow groups of regular semi-local algebras over arbitrary fields. The de Rham–Witt–Chow homomorphism $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is constructed in § 5. We prove the key result on traceability in this section. We finish the proof of Theorem 1.1 in § 6 and its applications are derived in § 7.

The last section is an appendix by Kay Rülling, which proves the characteristic 2 case of his result from [Rül07a] for fields. We thank him for this contribution.

2. Milnor K-theory and de Rham-Witt complex

We fix an arbitrary field k. We let $p \ge 1$ denote the exponential characteristic of k. Any further restriction on the nature of k will be stated explicitly. In this section, we fix our conventions on notation. We then recall the definitions of Milnor K-groups, rings of big Witt vectors, and the big de Rham–Witt complexes of Hesselholt and Madsen [HM01]. We discuss some properties of these objects that are used throughout this paper.

2.1 Conventions

In this paper, a k-scheme is a separated scheme of finite type over k, unless we say otherwise. A k-variety is a reduced k-scheme. The product $X \times Y$ means usually $X \times_k Y$, unless we specify otherwise. We let \mathbf{Sch}_k be the category of k-schemes, \mathbf{Sm}_k of smooth k-schemes, and \mathbf{SmAff}_k of smooth affine k-schemes. By a scheme essentially of finite type over k, we mean a Noetherian k-scheme which is the projective limit of a cofiltered collection of open subschemes of a finite type k-scheme. We let $\mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ be the category of such schemes. An affine scheme is an object of $\mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ if and only if it is the spectrum of a ring obtained by localizing a finite-type k-algebra at a multiplicatively closed subset. By a semi-local scheme, we shall mean an affine k-scheme essentially of finite type with only finitely many closed points.

A ring R in this paper will always mean a commutative Noetherian k-algebra. We say that R is regular if all its local rings are regular local rings. Equivalently, $R_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is a regular local ring for every maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset R$. We let \mathbb{N} denote the set of all positive integers.

2.2 Milnor K-groups

Recall that the Milnor K-ring $K_*^M(R)$ of R is the quotient $T_{\mathbb{Z}}^*(R^{\times})/I$ of the tensor algebra of R^{\times} by the two-sided ideal I generated by $\{a \otimes (1-a) \mid a \in R^{\times}, 1-a \in R^{\times}\}$. Its degree-n part is $K_n^M(R)$ and $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$ is the image of $a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_n$ in $K_n^M(R)$, where $a_i \in R^{\times}$.

is $K_n^M(R)$ and $\{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}$ is the image of $a_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes a_n$ in $K_n^M(R)$, where $a_i \in R^{\times}$. When k is finite, it is known that the Milnor K-groups $K_*^M(A)$ are not most ideally defined. For instance, the Gersten conjecture fails even if R is a regular semi-local ring. To remedy this,

Gabber (unpublished) and Kerz [Ker10] defined an 'improved Milnor K-theory' $\hat{K}_*^M(R)$. These groups are equipped with a natural map of graded rings $\psi_R \colon K_*^M(R) \to \hat{K}_*^M(R)$ satisfying the following properties:

- (i) ψ_R is an isomorphism if either k is infinite or R is a (finite or infinite) field;
- (ii) ψ_R is surjective if R is local;
- (iii) the Gersten conjecture holds for $\hat{K}_*^M(R)$ if R is regular semi-local essentially of finite type over k.

In this paper, the Milnor K-theory $K_*^M(R)$ will always mean the improved Milnor K-theory of Gabber and Kerz.

2.3 The ring of Witt vectors

Let R be a ring. We recall the definition of the ring of big Witt vectors of R, e.g. from [Rül07a, Appendix A]. A truncation set $S \subset \mathbb{N}$ is a nonempty subset such that if $s \in S$ and t|s, then $t \in S$. As a set, let $\mathbb{W}_S(R) := R^S$ and define the map $w : \mathbb{W}_S(R) \to R^S$, $a = (a_s)_{s \in S} \mapsto w(a) = (w(a)_s)_{s \in S}$, where $w(a)_s := \sum_{t|s} t a_t^{s/t}$ (called the 'ghost map'). When R^S on the target of w is given the component-wise ring structure, it is known that there is a unique functorial ring structure on $\mathbb{W}_S(R)$ such that w is a ring homomorphism. See [Hes15, Proposition 1.2]. The ghost map is an isomorphism if R contains \mathbb{Q} .

For two truncation sets $S \subset S'$, there is a restriction $\mathfrak{R} : \mathbb{W}_{S'}(R) \to \mathbb{W}_{S}(R)$. When $S = \{1, \ldots, m\}$, we write $\mathbb{W}_m(R) := \mathbb{W}_S(R)$. We let $\mathbb{W}(R) := \mathbb{W}_{\mathbb{N}}(R)$, which is $\varprojlim_m \mathbb{W}_m(R)$. For a fixed prime p and $S_i = \{1, p, \ldots, p^{i-1}\}$, we write $W_i(R) = \mathbb{W}_{S_i}(R)$ and $W(R) := \mathbb{W}_{1,p,p^2,\ldots}(R)$, which is $\varprojlim_m W_i(R)$. They are the p-typical rings of Witt vectors.

There is another description of the rings $\mathbb{W}_S(R)$. There is a natural bijection $\mathbb{W}(R) \simeq (1 + TR[[T]])^{\times}$, where T is an indeterminate and the addition of the ring $\mathbb{W}(R)$ corresponds to the multiplication of the formal power series. For a truncation set S, we have $\mathbb{W}_S(R) \cong (1 + TR[[T]])^{\times}/I_S$ for a suitable subgroup I_S . See [Rül07a, A.7] for details. In case $S = \{1, \ldots, m\}$, we have an isomorphism

$$\gamma: \mathbb{W}_m(R) \simeq (1 + TR[[T]])^{\times} / (1 + T^{m+1}R[[T]])^{\times}; \quad (a_i)_{1 \le i \le m} \mapsto \prod_{i=1}^m (1 - a_i T^i).$$
 (2.1)

The Teichmüller lift $[-]_S: R \to \mathbb{W}_S(R)$ is given by $a \mapsto 1 - aT$, which is a multiplicative map. If $S = \{1, \ldots, m\}$, we write $[-]_m$ for $[-]_S$. When the truncation set is understood, we shall write $[-]_S$ also as [-]. For each $i \geq 1$, we have the *i*th Verschiebung map V_i given by $V_i([a]_{\lfloor m/i \rfloor}) = (1 - aT^i)$ under the identification (2.1), where for a non-negative real number c, we denote by $\lfloor c \rfloor$ the greatest integer not bigger than c. By $[R\"{u}l07a, Properties A.4(i)]$, for $x = (x_i) \in \mathbb{W}_m(R)$, we have

$$x = \sum_{i=1}^{m} V_i([x_i]_{\lfloor m/i \rfloor}). \tag{2.2}$$

2.4 The de Rham-Witt complex

Let R be a k algebra. Recall from [HM01, Definition 1.1.1] that a restricted Witt complex over R is a pro-system of differential graded \mathbb{Z} -algebras $((E_m^{\bullet})_{m\in\mathbb{N}}, \mathfrak{R}: E_{m+1}^{\bullet} \to E_m^{\bullet})$ together with families of homomorphisms of graded rings $(F_r: E_{rm+r-1}^{\bullet} \to E_m^{\bullet})_{m,r\in\mathbb{N}}$ called Frobenius maps, and homomorphisms of graded groups $(V_r: E_m^{\bullet} \to E_{rm+r-1}^{\bullet})_{m,r\in\mathbb{N}}$ called Verschiebung maps, satisfying the following relations for all $n, r, s \in \mathbb{N}$:

(i)
$$\Re F_r = F_r \Re^r$$
, $\Re^r V_r = V_r \Re$, $F_1 = V_1 = \operatorname{Id}$, $F_r F_s = F_{rs}$, $V_r V_s = V_{rs}$;

- (ii) $F_rV_r = r$; when (r, s) = 1, then $F_rV_s = V_sF_r$ on E_{rm+r-1}^{\bullet} ;
- (iii) $V_r(F_r(x)y) = xV_r(y)$ for all $x \in E_{rm+r-1}^{\bullet}$ and $y \in E_m^{\bullet}$ (projection formula);
- (iv) $F_r dV_r = d$ (where d is the differential operator of the differential graded algebras (DGAs)).

Furthermore, there is a homomorphism of pro-rings $(\lambda : \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to E_m^0)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ compatible with F_r and V_r , such that

(v) $F_r d\lambda([a]) = \lambda([a]^{r-1}) d\lambda([a])$ for all $a \in R$ and $r \in \mathbb{N}$,

where $[a] \in W_m(R)$ is the Teichmüller lift of $a \in R$.

By [Hes15], the category of restricted Witt-complexes over R has an initial object, called the de Rham–Witt complex $(\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^{\bullet})_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ of R. For fixed $m\in\mathbb{N}$, the complex $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^{\bullet}$ has an explicit description as a quotient of the DGA $\Omega_{\mathbb{W}_m(R)/\mathbb{Z}}^{\bullet}$ (the absolute de Rham complex of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$) by a differential graded ideal $N_m^{\bullet}(R)$, which is defined by an explicit set of generators (see [Hes15, § 4] or [Rül07a, Proposition 1.2]). One property of $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^{\bullet}$ is that the canonical maps $\lambda \colon \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^{0}$ (for all m) and $\mathbb{W}_1\Omega_R^{\bullet} \to \Omega_R^{\bullet}$ (as a map of DGAs) are isomorphisms.

More generally, for any finite truncation set $S \subset \mathbb{N}$, we have the de Rham-Witt complex $\mathbb{W}_S\Omega_R^{\bullet} := \Omega_{\mathbb{W}_S(R)/\mathbb{Z}}^{\bullet}/N_S^{\bullet}$, where N_S^{\bullet} is a differential graded ideal given by some generators. When a prime p is fixed, taking $S = S_i = \{1, p, \dots, p^{i-1}\}$, we get $\mathbb{W}_{S_i}\Omega_R^{\bullet}$, which we shall denote by $W_i\Omega_R^{\bullet}$. This is the classical p-typical de Rham-Witt complex of R defined by Bloch, Deligne and Illusie (see [Blo77] and [Ill79]).

Remark 2.1. We remark that our definition of a Witt complex over R from [HM01] is a bit different from the version in [Hes15, Definition 4.1], but when 2 is invertible or zero in R, both of them coincide. We only consider the case when R contains a field so that 2 is always either invertible or zero in R. We stick to the definition from [HM01], as it is simpler.

In general, for rings that do not necessarily contain a field, [Hes15] makes substantial usages of an element $d \log[-1] = [-1]d[-1]$ for the Teichmüller lift $[-1] \in W_S(R)$ to make corrections for 2-torsions. We will not need these so that we will not recall them, but one aspect of them motivates Lemma 2.7 even when R contains a field. We use it later in Proposition 5.9.

2.5 The p-typicalization of de Rham-Witt complex

Let R be a k-algebra as above. Then one knows that the ring of Witt vectors $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ has a finite set of idempotents which decompose it as a finite product of p-typical rings of Witt vectors. Furthermore, this decomposition is functorial in R and compatible with respect to the restriction maps $\mathfrak{R} \colon \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathbb{W}_{m-1}(R)$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. As with any $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ module, we get a functorial decomposition (see [Rül07a, Theorem 1.11])

$$\theta_R \colon \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \prod_{n \in I_p} \mathbb{W}_{\mathcal{P} \cap (\underline{m}/n)} \Omega_R^{\bullet},$$
 (2.3)

where $\underline{m} = \{1, ..., m\}$, $\mathcal{P} = \{1, p, p^2, ...\}$, the set I_p consists of all natural numbers prime to p, and $(\underline{m}/n) = \{a \in \mathbb{N} | an \in \underline{m}\}$.

2.6 Néron-Popescu approximation

To prove the main result of this paper over an imperfect base field, we need an approximation method based on the Néron–Popescu desingularization [Pop86] of regular rings, which we recall in the following. Details of the proof of this result can also be found in [Swa98, Theorem 1.1].

THEOREM 2.2. Let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra. Let $k' \subset k$ be the prime field. Then R can be written as a filtering inductive limit $\varinjlim_{\lambda \in I} R_{\lambda}$ such that each R_{λ} is a semi-local ring which is essentially of finite type and smooth over k'.

When R is essentially of finite type in addition, we can say a bit more (see e.g. [Qui73, Proof of Theorem 5.11]).

LEMMA 2.3. Suppose that p > 1 and R is a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Then we can find a direct system of smooth and essentially of finite-type semi-local \mathbb{F}_p -algebras $\{R_i\}_{i\in I}$ such that the transition maps $\lambda_{ij}\colon R_i\to R_j$ for $i\leq j$ are injective and faithfully flat. Moreover, $R=\lim_i R_i$ and each inclusion $R_i\hookrightarrow R$ is faithfully flat.

Proof. As R is regular, it is a finite direct product of regular semi-local k-algebras essentially of finite type, each of which is an integral domain. We can therefore assume without loss of generality that R is an integral domain.

As R is essentially of finite type over k and semi-local, we can find an integral domain \bar{R} , which is a k-algebra of finite type, and a finite set Σ of primes in \bar{R} such that $R = \bar{R}_{\Sigma}$, the localization at Σ . As R is regular and the regular locus of $\operatorname{Spec}(\bar{R})$ is open, we can assume that \bar{R} is regular.

We can now find a subfield $k' \subset k$ which is finitely generated over \mathbb{F}_p , a k'-algebra \bar{A} of finite type such that $\bar{R} = \bar{A} \otimes_{k'} k$. As the prime ideals lying in the finite set Σ are finitely generated, we can assume (after replacing k' by a bigger finitely generated subfield of k) that there is a finite set Σ' of primes in \bar{A} such that $\Sigma = \{\mathfrak{p}\bar{R} \mid \mathfrak{p} \in \Sigma'\}$. By replacing the elements of Σ' by the contractions of the elements in Σ , we can also assume that $\Sigma' = \{\mathfrak{p} \cap \bar{A} | \mathfrak{p} \in \Sigma'\}$.

As \bar{R} is a regular \mathbb{F}_p -algebra and \mathbb{F}_p is perfect, we see that R is geometrically regular over \mathbb{F}_p . As the inclusion $\bar{A} \hookrightarrow \bar{R}$ of Noetherian \mathbb{F}_p -algebras is faithfully flat, the ring \bar{A} is also geometrically regular over \mathbb{F}_p (see e.g. [Stacks, Lemma 07NH]). In particular, it is regular.

Setting $R' = \bar{A}_{\Sigma'}$ and $R'_k = R' \otimes_{k'} k$, we have the canonical injection $R'_k \hookrightarrow \bar{R}_{\Sigma} = R$ which is a localization map. Writing k as a direct limit of its finitely generated subfields, we can find a direct system of finitely generated subfields $\{k_i\}_{i\in I}$ such that $k' \subset k_i \subset k_j \subset k$ for $i \leq j$, and $k = \bigcup_{i \in I} k_i$. In particular, $R'_k = \varinjlim_i R'_i$, where $R'_i := R' \otimes_{k'} k_i$. As $R'_j = R' \otimes_{k'} k_j = (R' \otimes_{k'} k_i) \otimes_{k_i} k_j = R'_i \otimes_{k_i} k_j$ for $i \leq j$, it follows that each transition map $\lambda_{ij} : R'_i \to R'_j$ is an injective faithfully flat map of Noetherian \mathbb{F}_p -algebras such that $R'_k = \varinjlim_i R'_i$. Furthermore, $R'_k = R'_i \otimes_{k_i} k$ and, hence, the inclusion $R'_i \hookrightarrow R'_k$ is also faithfully flat. In particular, each R'_i is a regular integral domain.

As R' is essentially of finite type over k' and k' is finitely generated over \mathbb{F}_p , it follows that R' is an \mathbb{F}_p -algebra essentially of finite type. As each k_i is finitely generated over \mathbb{F}_p , the same argument implies that each R'_i is an regular \mathbb{F}_p -algebra essentially of finite type. As \mathbb{F}_p is perfect, it follows that each R'_i is smooth over \mathbb{F}_p . We let $\Sigma_i = \{\mathfrak{p} \cap R'_i | \mathfrak{p} \in \Sigma\}$ under the inclusion $R'_i \hookrightarrow R$. It is clear that for each pair of elements $i \leq j$ in I, the transition map $\lambda_{ij} : R'_i \hookrightarrow R'_j$ induces an inclusion $\lambda_{ij} : (R'_i)_{\Sigma_i} \hookrightarrow (R'_i)_{\Sigma_j}$ such that $\Sigma_i = \{\mathfrak{p} \cap (R'_i)_{\Sigma_i} | \mathfrak{p} \in \Sigma_j\}$. We let $R_i = (R'_i)_{\Sigma_i}$ for $i \in I$.

As each λ_{ij} is flat and every closed point of $\operatorname{Spec}(R_i)$ is in the image of the map $\lambda_{ij}^* \colon \operatorname{Spec}(R_j') \to \operatorname{Spec}(R_i)$, it follows that λ_{ij} is faithfully flat (see e.g. [Stacks, Lemma 00HQ] or [Mat86, Theorem 7.2, p. 47]). The same reasoning implies that each inclusion $R_i \hookrightarrow R$ is faithfully flat.

Finally, we note that every element of R'_k which becomes invertible in R lies in the image of $R'_i \hookrightarrow R$ for some $i \in I$. Such an element must become invertible in R_i . It follows that $R = \varinjlim_i R_i$. This finishes the proof.

Remark 2.4. If R is a regular k-algebra essentially of finite type, that is not necessarily semi-local, the proof of Lemma 2.3 shows that a weaker version is still valid. Namely, we can find a direct system of smooth \mathbb{F}_p -algebras $\{R_i\}_{i\in I}$ essentially of finite type, such that the transition maps $\lambda_{ij}\colon R_i\to R_j$ for $i\leq j$ are injective and flat. Moreover, $R=\varinjlim_i R_i$ and each inclusion $R_i\hookrightarrow R$ is flat. However, we may not be able to ensure that either $R_i\to R_j$ or $R_i\to R$ is faithfully flat.

LEMMA 2.5. Suppose that p > 1 and $f: R \to S$ is a morphism between two regular semi-local k-algebras essentially of finite type. Then we can find direct systems $\{R_i\}_{i\in I}$ and $\{S_i\}_{i\in I}$ as in Lemma 2.3 together with maps of \mathbb{F}_p -algebras $f_i: R_i \to S_i$, compatible with the transition maps of the direct systems such that $R = \lim_i R_i$, $S = \lim_i S_i$, and $f = \lim_i f_i$.

Proof. Let \bar{R} be the regular finite type k-algebra and Σ a finite subset of $\operatorname{Spec}(\bar{R})$ as in the proof of Lemma 2.3 such that $R = \bar{R}_{\Sigma}$. We can similarly find a regular finite type k-algebra \bar{S} and a finite subset $\Phi \subset \operatorname{Spec}(S)$ such that $S = \bar{S}_{\Phi}$. As \bar{R} is a finite type k-algebra, we can extend the map $f \colon R \to S$ to a k-algebra morphism $f \colon \bar{R} \to \bar{S}$ (after possibly replacing \bar{S} by a localization which is still finite type over k).

Next, we saw in the proof of Lemma 2.3 that we can find a subfield $k' \subset k$ which is finitely generated over \mathbb{F}_p , a finite-type k'-algebra \bar{A} (respectively, \bar{B}), and a finite subset $\Sigma' \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\bar{A})$ (respectively, $\Phi' \subset \operatorname{Spec}(\bar{B})$) such that $\bar{R} = \bar{A} \otimes_{k'} k$ (respectively, $\bar{S} = \bar{B} \otimes_{k'} k$) and Σ (respectively, Φ) is the extension of Σ' (respectively, Φ'). Furthermore, $R = R' \otimes_{k'} k$, where $R' = \bar{A}_{\Sigma'}$. Similarly, $S = S' \otimes_{k'} k$, where $S' = \bar{B}_{\Phi'}$.

As \bar{A} is a finite-type k'-algebra, we can find a field k'' such that it is finitely generated over \mathbb{F}_p with $k' \subset k'' \subset k$ and a k''-algebra morphism $f \colon \bar{A} \otimes_{k'} k'' \to \bar{B} \otimes_{k'} k''$ which extends $f \colon \bar{R} = \bar{A} \otimes_{k'} k \to \bar{B} \otimes_{k'} k = \bar{S}$. In other words, we can choose our finitely generated subfield $k' \subset k$ over \mathbb{F}_p such that $f \colon \bar{R} \to \bar{S}$ is induced by a morphism of finite type k'-algebras $f \colon \bar{A} \to \bar{B}$.

As, after base change to k, the map $f: A \to B$ induces the map $R'_k = A_{\Sigma'} \otimes_{k'} k \to B_{\Phi'} \otimes_{k'} k = S'_k$, it follows that f must induce a map of localizations $f: R' = \bar{A}_{\Sigma'} \to \bar{B}_{\Phi'} = S'$. We have therefore shown that there is a finitely generated subfield $k' \subset k$ over \mathbb{F}_p , a morphism between essentially of finite-type regular semi-local k'-algebras $f: R' \to S'$ which induces our original map $f: R = (R'_k)_{\Sigma} \to (S'_k)_{\Phi} = S$.

We now choose a direct system of finitely generated subfields $\{k_i\}_{i\in I}$ such that $k' \subset k_i \subset k_j \subset k$ for every $i \leq j$, and $k = \bigcup_{i \in I} k_i$. We let

$$R'_i = R \otimes_{k'} k_i$$
, $S'_i = S' \otimes_{k'} k_i$, $\Sigma_i = \Sigma \cap R'_i$, $\Phi_i = \Phi \cap S'_i$, $R_i = (R'_i)_{\Sigma_i}$, and $S_i = (S'_i)_{\Phi_i}$.

The rings R and S are semi-local with the sets of maximal ideals Σ and Φ , respectively. It is easy to check using this that the map $f_i : R'_i \to S'_i$ induced by $f : R' \to S'$ descends to a map between the localizations $f_i : (R'_i)_{\Sigma_i} \to (S'_i)_{\Phi_i}$. Equivalently, a map $f_i : R_i \to S_i$. The rest of the proof now is a repetition of the proof of Lemma 2.3.

2.7 Some properties of de Rham-Witt complexes

We collect some results about de Rham-Witt complexes needed in this paper.

LEMMA 2.6. Let $\{R_{\lambda}\}_{{\lambda}\in I}$ be a filtering system of k-algebras with $R=\varinjlim_{{\lambda}\in I}R_{\lambda}$. Let $(E_m^{\bullet}({\lambda}))_{m\in\mathbb{N},{\lambda}\in I}$ be a filtering system of differential graded \mathbb{Z} -algebras such that $(E_m^{\bullet}({\lambda}))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a restricted Witt complex over R_{λ} for each ${\lambda}\in I$. We let $E_m^{\bullet}=\varinjlim_{{\lambda}\in I}E_m^{\bullet}({\lambda})$ for $m\in\mathbb{N}$. Then $(E_m^{\bullet})_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a restricted Witt complex over R.

Proof. It follows, e.g., from [Rül07a, Proposition 1.16 and Lemma 1.17].

LEMMA 2.7. Let R be a k-algebra. Then $d[a] \wedge d[a] = 0$ in $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^2$ for any $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a \in R$.

Proof. By [Hes15, Definitions 3.1, 3.6 and p. 186], we have $d[a] \wedge d[a] = d \log[-1] \wedge F_2(d[a])$ for each $a \in R$. If $\operatorname{char}(k) = 2$, then -1 = 1 in k so that $d \log[-1] = d \log[1] = 0$. Hence, $d[a] \wedge d[a] = d \log[-1] \wedge F_2(d[a]) = 0$. If $\operatorname{char}(k) \neq 2$, then, by the anti-commutativity, we have $d[a] \wedge d[a] = -d[a] \wedge d[a]$ so that $2d[a] \wedge d[a] = 0$. As $2 \in k^{\times}$ so that $2 \in \mathbb{W}_m(k)^{\times}$, we deduce $d[a] \wedge d[a] = 0$.

PROPOSITION 2.8. Let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra and let K be the total ring of quotients for R. Then, for all $m \ge 1$ and $n \ge 0$, the natural map $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_K^n$ is injective.

Proof. Let K denote the total ring of quotients of R. This is a product of fields because R is regular and, hence, reduced. Using Néron-Popescu (Theorem 2.2 in § 2.6), we can write $R = \varinjlim_{\lambda \in I} R_{\lambda}$ such that each R_{λ} is a semi-local ring which is essentially of finite type and smooth over the prime field of R. As taking the total rings of quotients commutes with a filtering inductive limit of rings, it follows that $K = \varinjlim_{\lambda \in I} K_{\lambda}$, where K_{λ} is the total ring of quotients of R_{λ} .

We now have a commutative diagram of canonical maps

$$\underset{\lambda \in I}{\underline{\lim}} \mathbb{W}_{m} \Omega_{R_{\lambda}}^{n} \to \mathbb{W}_{m} \Omega_{R}^{n}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$\underset{\lambda \in I}{\underline{\lim}} \mathbb{W}_{m} \Omega_{K_{\lambda}}^{n} \to \mathbb{W}_{m} \Omega_{K}^{n}$$

$$(2.4)$$

in which the horizontal arrows are isomorphisms by [Rül07a, Proposition 1.16]. It suffices therefore to prove the proposition when k is perfect and R is a semi-local ring which is essentially of finite type and smooth over k. In this case, R is a finite product of integral domains. We can therefore assume further that R is an integral domain.

We prove this case in two steps.

Step 1. Let m=1. We show that $\Omega^n_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \to \Omega^n_{K/\mathbb{Z}}$ is injective.

CLAIM. We claim that $\Omega^i_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ is a free R-module, possibly of infinite rank.

This is obvious for i=0. Suppose $i\geq 1$. Consider the Jacobi–Zariski exact sequence of the maps $\mathbb{Z}\to k\to R$ from [Lod98, 3.5.5.1] (which generalizes [Har77, Proposition 8.3A]):

$$\cdots \to D_1(R|k) \to \Omega^1_{k/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_k R \to \Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \to \Omega^1_{R/k} \to 0,$$

where $D_1(R|k)$ is the first André–Quillen homology of André [And74] and Quillen [Qui70] (see [Lod98, 3.5.4]). As R is smooth over k, we have $D_1(R|k) = 0$ by [Lod98, Theorem 3.5.6]. On the other hand, because R is a smooth semi-local k-algebra, $\Omega^1_{R/k}$ is a free R-module. Thus, we have an isomorphism $\Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \simeq \Omega^1_{R/k} \oplus (\Omega^1_{k/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_k R)$. As $\Omega^1_{k/\mathbb{Z}}$ is a free k-module (a k-vector space), the space $\Omega^1_{k/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_k R$ is a free R-module. Hence, $\Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ is a free R-module. Taking wedge products, we deduce that $\Omega^i_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ is a free R-module for all $i \geq 1$, proving the claim.

Going back to the proof of step 1, we apply the functor $-\otimes_R \Omega^i_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ to the inclusion $R \hookrightarrow K$. By claim, the module $\Omega^i_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ is free so that we obtain an injection $\Omega^i_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \hookrightarrow K \otimes_R \Omega^i_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$, where the latter group is isomorphic to $\Omega^i_{K/\mathbb{Z}}$ by [Har77, Proposition 8.2A]. Hence, step 1 is done.

Step 2. Now suppose $m \geq 1$. When $\operatorname{char}(k) = 0$, by [Rül07a, Remark 1.12], $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_K^n$ decompose into a direct product of maps $\Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}^n \to \Omega_{K/\mathbb{Z}}^n$, each of which is injective by step 1. Hence, the direct product is also injective.

When $\operatorname{char}(k) = p > 0$, the map $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_K^n$ decomposes into a direct product of some copies of maps of p-typical de Rham–Witt forms $W_s \Omega_R^n \to W_s \Omega_K^n$ (for various finite values

of s) by (2.3). Hence, it suffices to prove the injectivity for the p-typical de Rham-Witt complex. However, it was proven, for instance by Gros [Gro85, Proposition 5.1.2, p. 57], that for any smooth k-scheme X, the Cousin complex of $W_s\Omega_X^n$ is a resolution of $W_s\Omega_X^n$. In particular, each $W_s\Omega_R^n \to W_s\Omega_K^n$ is injective. This completes the proof of the proposition.

3. The additive higher Chow groups

In this section, we recall the definitions of higher Chow groups and additive higher Chow groups. We prove some basic properties of additive Chow groups which are used in the main proofs. We fix an arbitrary base field k.

3.1 Higher Chow groups

We recall (see [Blo86, Tot92]) the definition of higher Chow groups. Let $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ be equidimensional. Let $\mathbb{P}^1_k = \operatorname{Proj} k[Y_0, Y_1]$ and $\square^n = (\mathbb{P}^1_k \setminus \{1\})^n$. Let $(y_1, \ldots, y_n) \in \square^n$ be the coordinates. A face of \square^n is a closed subscheme defined by a set of equations of the form $y_{i_1} = \epsilon_1, \ldots, y_{i_s} = \epsilon_s$, where $\epsilon_j \in \{0, \infty\}$. For $1 \leq i \leq n$ and $\epsilon = 0, \infty$, we let $\iota_i^{\epsilon} : \square^{n-1} \hookrightarrow \square^n$ be the closed immersion given by $(y_1, \ldots, y_{n-1}) \mapsto (y_1, \ldots, y_{i-1}, \epsilon, y_i, \ldots, y_{n-1})$. Its image gives a codimension 1 face.

Let $q, n \ge 0$. Note that when X is obtained by localizing at a non-closed point, the notion of dimensions for closed subschemes of $X \times \square^n$ could be ambiguous but the codimensions are well-defined. We keep this in mind and in what follows, we use codimensions only unless some ambiguity appears.

Let $\underline{z}^q(X,n)$ be the free abelian group on the set of integral closed subschemes of $X \times \square^n$ of codimension q, that intersect properly with $X \times F$ for each face F of \square^n . We define the boundary map $\partial_i^{\epsilon}(Z) := [(\mathrm{Id}_X \times \iota_i^{\epsilon})^*(Z)]$. This collection of data gives a cubical abelian group $(\underline{n} \mapsto \underline{z}^q(X,n))$ in the sense of [KL08, §1.1], and the groups $z^q(X,n) := \underline{z}^q(X,n)/\underline{z}^q(X,n)_{\mathrm{degn}}$ (in the notation of [KL08, §1.1]) give a complex of abelian groups, whose boundary map at level n is given by $\partial := \sum_{i=1}^n (-1)^i (\partial_i^{\infty} - \partial_i^0)$. The homology $\mathrm{CH}^q(X,n) := \mathrm{H}_n(z^q(X,\bullet),\partial)$ is called the higher Chow group of X.

3.2 Additive higher Chow groups

We recall the definition of additive higher Chow groups from [KP15, § 2]. Let $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ be equidimensional. Let $\mathbb{A}^1 = \mathrm{Spec}k[t]$, $\mathbb{G}_m = \mathrm{Spec}k[t, t^{-1}]$, and $\overline{\square} = \mathbb{P}^1_k$. For $n \geq 1$, let $B_n = \mathbb{A}^1 \times \square^{n-1}$, $\overline{B}_n = \mathbb{A}^1 \times \overline{\square}^{n-1}$ and $\hat{B}_n = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \overline{\square}^{n-1} \supset \overline{B}_n$, where $\square = \overline{\square} \setminus \{1\}$. Let $(t, y_1, \ldots, y_{n-1}) \in \overline{B}_n$ be the coordinates.

On \bar{B}_n , define the Cartier divisors $F_{n,i}^1 := \{y_i = 1\}$ for $1 \le i \le n-1$, $F_{n,0} := \{t = 0\}$, and let $F_n^1 := \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} F_{n,i}^1$. A face of B_n is a closed subscheme defined by a set of equations of the form $y_{i_1} = \epsilon_1, \ldots, y_{i_s} = \epsilon_s$ where $\epsilon_j \in \{0, \infty\}$. For $1 \le i \le n-1$ and $\epsilon = 0, \infty$, let $\iota_{n,i}^{\epsilon} : B_{n-1} \hookrightarrow B_n$ be the inclusion $(t, y_1, \ldots, y_{n-2}) \mapsto (t, y_1, \ldots, y_{i-1}, \epsilon, y_i, \ldots, y_{n-2})$. Its image is a codimension 1 face.

The additive higher Chow complex is defined similarly using the schemes B_n instead of \square^n , but together with proper intersections with all faces, we impose additional conditions called the *modulus conditions*, that control how the cycles should behave at 'infinity'.

Let $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$, and let V be an integral closed subscheme of $X \times B_n$. Let \bar{V} denote the Zariski closure of V in $X \times \bar{B}_n$ and let $\nu \colon \bar{V}^N \to \bar{V} \subset X \times \bar{B}_n$ be the normalization of \bar{V} . Let $m \geq 0$ and $n \geq 1$ be integers. As in [KP15, Definition 2.1], we say that V satisfies the modulus m condition on $X \times B_n$, if we have $(m+1)[\nu^*(F_{n,0})] \leq [\nu^*(F_n^1)]$ in the free abelian group of Weil divisors on \bar{V}^N . (Note that when n=1, we have $F_1^1 = \emptyset$, so it means $\nu^*(F_{1,0}) = 0$, or

 $\{t=0\} \cap \bar{V} = \emptyset$.) If V is a cycle on $X \times B_n$, we say that V satisfies the modulus m condition if each of its irreducible components satisfies the modulus m condition. When m is understood, often we just say that V satisfies the modulus condition. As $F_{n,0} = \{t=0\} \subset \bar{B}_n$, replacing \bar{B}_n by \hat{B}_n in the definition does not change the nature of the modulus condition on V.

Recall from [KP15, Definitions 2.5 and 2.6] the following. Let $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ be equidimensional. Let $m \geq 0$ and $n, q \geq 1$ be integers. We let $\underline{\mathrm{Tz}}^q(X, 1; m)$ be the free abelian group on integral closed subschemes Z of $X \times \mathbb{A}^1$ of codimension q, satisfying the modulus condition.

For n > 1, let $\underline{\mathrm{Tz}}^q(X, n; m)$ be the free abelian group on integral closed subschemes Z of $X \times B_n$ of codimension q such that (1) each face F of B_n , Z intersects $X \times F$ properly on $X \times B_n$ and (2) Z satisfies the modulus m condition on $X \times B_n$.

For each $1 \leq i \leq n-1$ and $\epsilon = 0, \infty$, let $\partial_i^{\epsilon}(Z) := [(\mathrm{Id}_X \times \iota_{n,i}^{\epsilon})^*(Z)]$. The proper intersection with faces ensures that $\partial_i^{\epsilon}(Z)$ are well-defined.

The cycles in $\underline{\operatorname{Tz}}^q(X,n;m)$ are called the admissible cycles (or, often the additive higher Chow cycles, or additive cycles). This gives the cubical abelian group $(\underline{n} \mapsto \underline{\operatorname{Tz}}^q(X,n+1;m))$ in the sense of [KL08, § 1.1]. Using the containment lemma [KP12a, Proposition 2.4], that each face $\partial_i^{\epsilon}(Z)$ lies in $\underline{\operatorname{Tz}}^q(X,n-1;m)$ is implied from (1) and (2).

The additive higher Chow complex, or just the additive cycle complex, $\operatorname{Tz}^q(X, \bullet; m)$ of X in codimension q with modulus m is the non-degenerate complex associated to the cubical abelian group $(\underline{n} \mapsto \underline{\operatorname{Tz}}^q(X, n+1; m))$, i.e. $\operatorname{Tz}^q(X, n; m)$ is the quotient $\underline{\operatorname{Tz}}^q(X, n; m) / \underline{\operatorname{Tz}}^q(X, n; m)_{\operatorname{degn}}$.

The boundary map of this complex at level n is given by $\partial := \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (-1)^i (\partial_i^{\infty} - \partial_i^0)$, and it satisfies $\partial^2 = 0$. The homology $\mathrm{TCH}^q(X, n; m) := \mathrm{H}_n(\mathrm{Tz}^q(X, \bullet; m))$ for $n \geq 1$ is the additive higher Chow group of X with modulus m. When $X = \mathrm{Spec}(A)$ is affine, we usually write $\mathrm{TCH}^q(X, n; m)$ as $\mathrm{TCH}^q(A, n; m)$. In this paper, we study only the Milnor range additive chow groups $\{\mathrm{TCH}^n(X, n; m)\}_{m>0, n>1}$.

3.3 Some properties

Like Bloch's higher Chow groups, the additive higher Chow groups are also equipped with pull-back map associated to flat morphisms and push-forward map associated to proper morphisms between schemes. Another less-obvious property we need in this paper is the following.

PROPOSITION 3.1. Let R be a smooth k-algebra essentially of finite type. Then there is a natural cap product map

$$\cap_R \colon \mathrm{TCH}^q(R, n; m) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathrm{CH}^p(R, n') \to \mathrm{TCH}^{p+q}(R, n+n'; m).$$

This commutes with the pull-back and push-forward whenever they exist. This is given by $a \cap_R b = \Delta_R^*(a \times b)$, where Δ_R^* is the pull-back via the diagonal map Δ_R : Spec $(R) \to \text{Spec}(R) \times \text{Spec}(R)$.

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of [KP17a, Theorem 3.12].

3.4 Subcomplexes associated to some algebraic subsets

Let $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ be equidimensional. Here are some subgroups of $\mathrm{Tz}^q(X, n; m)$ with a finer intersection property with a given finite set \mathcal{W} of locally closed algebraic subsets of X.

DEFINITION 3.2 (*Cf.* [KP12a, Definition 4.2]). Define $\underline{\mathrm{Tz}}_{\mathcal{W}}^q(X, n; m)$ to be the subgroup of $\underline{\mathrm{Tz}}^q(X, n; m)$ generated by integral closed subschemes $Z \subset X \times B_n$ that additionally satisfy

$$\operatorname{codim}_{W \times F}(Z \cap (W \times F)) \ge q \text{ for all } W \in \mathcal{W} \text{ and all faces } F \subset B_n.$$
 (3.1)

The groups $\underline{\operatorname{Tz}}_{\mathcal{W}}^q(X, n+1; m)$ for $n \geq 0$ form a cubical subgroup of $(n \mapsto \underline{\operatorname{Tz}}^q(X, n+1; m))$ and they give the subcomplex $\operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{W}}^q(X, \bullet; m) \subset \operatorname{Tz}^q(X, \bullet; m)$ by modding out by the degenerate cycles. The homology groups are denoted by $\operatorname{TCH}_{\mathcal{W}}^q(X, n; m)$.

3.5 Atlas for semi-local k-schemes

Recall that a semi-local k-algebra R essentially of finite type is of the form $R = \mathcal{O}_{X,\Sigma}$, where X is a quasi-projective k-scheme and $\Sigma \subset X$ is a finite set of points (not necessarily closed). The pair (X,Σ) will be called an atlas for $V = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$. An affine open subatlas (Y,Σ) of (X,Σ) for V is an atlas for V such that $Y \subset X$ is an affine open subset. A smooth atlas (X,Σ) is an atlas given by a smooth X. Note that because Σ is finite and X is quasi-projective, we can always choose an affine atlas for V. If R is smooth over k, then we can find a smooth affine atlas.

3.6 The fs- and sfs-cycles

We recall the following notions of fs morphisms, fs-cycles and sfs-cycles from [KP20, § 2]. We also recall some properties of these cycles.

DEFINITION 3.3 ([KP20, Definition 2.6]). Let $X, Y \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$. When Y is irreducible, we say that a morphism $Y \to X$ of k-schemes is fs over X (or simply fs when X is clear), if it is finite and the map $Y \to X_i$ is surjective, where $X_i \subset X$ is an irreducible component in which the image of the entire Y lies.

When Y is not necessarily irreducible, we say $Y \to X$ is fs over X if for each irreducible component $Y_j \subset Y$, the induced map $Y_j \to X$ is fs over X.

We generalize it a bit further: let $f: Y \to X$ be a morphism in $\mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ and let $U \to X$ be a flat morphism. We say that $Y \to X$ is fs over U, if the fiber product $f': Y \times_X U \to U$ is fs.

These notions behave well under base change and finite push-forwards. See [KP20, Lemmas 2.7 and 2.8].

Let $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ be equidimensional. Let $m \geq 0$ and $n \geq 1$ be integers. For $1 \leq j \leq n$, let $\pi_j \colon B_n \to B_j$ be the projection given by $(t, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}) \mapsto (t, y_1, \dots, y_{j-1})$. For an irreducible closed subscheme $Z \subset X \times B_n$, let $Z^{(j)} = (\mathrm{Id}_X \times \pi_j)(Z)$. This $Z^{(j)}$ is, in general, not a closed subscheme of $X \times B_j$. However, if Z is finite over X, then the morphisms in the sequence $Z = Z^{(n)} \to Z^{(n-1)} \to \cdots \to Z^{(1)} \to X$ are all finite, so each $Z^{(j)}$ is closed in $X \times B_j$. If Z is a cycle on $X \times B_n$, we extend it \mathbb{Z} -linearly. Recall now the following from [KP20, Definitions 2.11 and 2.14].

DEFINITION 3.4. Let $X = \operatorname{Spec}(A)$ be an essentially of finite type smooth affine k-scheme and let $\Sigma \subset X$ be a finite set of points. Let $V = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_{X,\Sigma})$.

- (i) A cycle $\alpha \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\Sigma}^{n}(V, n; m)$ is said to be an fs-cycle if each irreducible component of α is fs over V. The subgroup of fs-cycles is denoted by $\operatorname{Tz}_{fs}^{n}(V, n; m)$.
- (ii) A cycle $\alpha \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\Sigma}^{n}(V, n; m)$ is said to be an sfs-cycle if it is an fs-cycle, and each irreducible component of $\alpha^{(j)}$ is smooth over k for all $1 \leq j \leq n$. The subgroup of sfs-cycles is denoted by $\operatorname{Tz}_{\mathsf{sfs}}^{n}(V, n; m)$.

We have the following characterization of sfs-cycles over the semi-local schemes.

PROPOSITION 3.5. Let $V = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ be a semi-local scheme which is essentially of finite type and smooth over k. Let Σ be the set of closed points of V. Then an irreducible cycle $Z \in \operatorname{Tz}^n_{\Sigma}(V, n; m)$

is an sfs-cycle if and only if there is a smooth affine atlas $(X = \operatorname{Spec}(A), \Sigma)$ for V and an irreducible cycle $\bar{Z} \in \operatorname{Tz}^n_{\Sigma}(X, n; m)$ for which the following hold:

- (i) $Z = \bar{Z}_V = \bar{Z} \times_X V$;
- (ii) \bar{Z} is closed in $X \times \hat{B}_n$, contained in $X \times \mathbb{A}^1 \times (\mathbb{A}^1)^{n-1}$, and does not intersect any proper face $F \subset \square^{n-1}$; in particular, \bar{Z} is fs over X;
- (iii) for each $1 \leq j \leq n$, each $\bar{Z}^{(j)} = (\operatorname{Id}_X \times \pi_j)(\bar{Z}) \subset X \times B_j$ is an irreducible closed subscheme, where π_j is given by $(t, y_1, \ldots, y_{n-1}) \mapsto (t, y_1, \ldots, y_{j-1})$; for the coordinate rings $k[\bar{Z}^{(j)}] = A[t, y_1, \ldots, y_{j-1}]/I(\bar{Z}^{(j)})$, for $a = \bar{t}$, $b_j = \bar{y}_j$ for $1 \leq j \leq n-1$, we have a sequence of finite extensions of integral domains, $A \subset A[a] \subset A[a, b_1] \subset \cdots \subset A[a, b_1, \ldots, b_{n-1}]$, such that each ring in the sequence is smooth over k;
- (iv) there are irreducible monic polynomials $P(t) \in A[t]$ and $Q_j(y_j) \in A[a, b_1, \dots, b_{j-1}][y_j]$ in y_j for $1 \le j \le n-1$ such that

$$A[a] = A[t]/(P(t))$$
 and $A[a, b_1, \dots, b_j] = A[a, b_1, \dots, b_{j-1}][y_j]/(Q_j(y_j)).$

Proof. For the (\Leftarrow) direction, one sees that the existence of a smooth atlas (X, Σ) for V and a cycle $\bar{Z} \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\Sigma}^{n}(X, n; m)$ satisfying properties (i)–(iv) imply that $Z \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\Sigma}^{n}(V, n; m)$ is an sfs-cycle over V. Thus, we need to prove the converse (\Rightarrow) .

Suppose that $Z \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\Sigma}^n(V, n; m)$ is an irreducible sfs-cycle. As it is an fs-cycle by definition, applying [KP20, Lemma 2.9, Proposition 2.13, Lemma 2.21], we see that there is a smooth affine atlas (X, Σ) for V such that the closure \bar{Z} of Z in $X \times B_n$ is an irreducible admissible cycle in $\operatorname{Tz}_{\Sigma}^n(X, n; m)$ which satisfies properties (i) and (ii).

As $\bar{Z} \to X$ is fs over X, there is a sequence of finite maps $\bar{Z} = \bar{Z}^{(n)} \to \cdots \to \bar{Z}^{(1)} \to X = \operatorname{Spec}(A)$ such that each $\bar{Z}^{(j)}$ is fs over X. Furthermore, each $\bar{Z}^{(j)}$ is smooth over k because Z is an sfs-cycle.

We now want to show that there is a smooth affine open subatlas (U, Σ) of (X, Σ) for V such that the restrictions $\bar{Z}_U^{(j)}$ to U $1 \leq j \leq n-1$ are all smooth over k. To prove it, set $A^j = k[\bar{Z}^{(j)}]$. As each $\bar{Z}_V^{(j)}$ is smooth over k and finite over V, we see that $\Omega^1_{A^j/k}$ is a finite A-module such that $\Omega^1_{S_{\Sigma}^{-1}A^j/k}$ is a free R-module, where $R = S_{\Sigma}^{-1}A$ for the multiplicative subset $S_{\Sigma} \subset A$ corresponding to the finite set of closed points Σ . Hence, there is an affine open neighborhood U of Σ in X such that each $\Omega^1_{A^j/k}|_U$ is a free k[U]-module. Replacing the given atlas (X, Σ) by the new (U, Σ) , we may thus assume that each $\bar{Z}^{(j)}$ is smooth over k. Hence, we have proven property (iii).

To prove property (iv), we observe that if we replace A by its semi-local ring R via localization, then we obtain a sequence of finite extensions of smooth semi-local rings. Note that such rings are unique factorization domains (UFDs) by Auslander–Buchsbaum and $R[a] = R[t]/I_1$ for the prime ideal $I_1 = I(Z^{(1)})$. As $\dim(R) = \dim(R[a]) = \dim(R[t]) - 1$, we have $\operatorname{ht}(I_1) = 1$. However, R[t] is a UFD so that I_1 must be principal by [Mat86, Theorem 20.1, p. 161]. Thus, if $P(t) \in R[t]$ is a monic irreducible polynomial of a, then we have $I_1 = (P(t))$. Similarly, we have $R[a,b_1] = R[a][y_1]/I_2$ for the prime ideal $I_2 = I(Z^{(2)})$, and because R[a] is a UFD, so is $R[a][y_1]$. Hence, we obtain $I_2 = (Q_1(y_1))$ in the same way.

Continuing as above, we get the irreducible monic polynomials $P(t) \in R[t]$ and $Q_j(y_j) \in R[a, b_1, \ldots, b_{j-1}][y_j]$ for which property (iv) holds over R. Choose lifts of these polynomials over A, and then there is a localization $A' = A[f^{-1}]$ for some $f \in A$ with the inclusions $A \hookrightarrow A' \hookrightarrow R$ such that the property (iv) holds over A'. Replacing (X, Σ) by $(\operatorname{Spec}(A'), \Sigma)$, we obtain a new atlas for V for which all of properties (i)–(iv) hold.

3.7 Additive higher Chow groups of fs- and sfs-cycles

Let $m \ge 0$ and $n \ge 1$ be two integers. Recall from [KP20, § 2.6] that for a smooth and essentially of finite type semi-local k-scheme V with the set of closed points Σ , the additive higher Chow groups of fs- and sfs-cycles are defined as follows. We let

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{TCH}^n_{\mathrm{fs}}(V,n;m) &= \frac{\ker(\partial: \mathrm{Tz}^n_{\mathrm{fs}}(V,n;m) \to \mathrm{Tz}^n(V,n-1;m))}{\mathrm{im}(\partial: \mathrm{Tz}^n(V,n+1;m) \to \mathrm{Tz}^n(V,n;m)) \cap \mathrm{Tz}^n_{\mathrm{fs}}(V,n;m)}, \\ \mathrm{TCH}^n_{\mathrm{sfs}}(V,n;m) &= \frac{\ker(\partial: \mathrm{Tz}^n_{\mathrm{sfs}}(V,n;m) \to \mathrm{Tz}^n(V,n-1;m))}{\mathrm{im}(\partial: \mathrm{Tz}^n(V,n+1;m) \to \mathrm{Tz}^n(V,n;m)) \cap \mathrm{Tz}^n_{\mathrm{sfs}}(V,n;m)}. \end{split}$$

We have a sequence of homomorphisms

$$\operatorname{TCH}_{\operatorname{sfs}}^n(V, n; m) \to \operatorname{TCH}_{\operatorname{fs}}^n(V, n; m) \to \operatorname{TCH}_{\Sigma}^n(V, n; m) \to \operatorname{TCH}^n(V, n; m).$$
 (3.2)

The last arrow in (3.2) is an isomorphism by [KP16, Theorem 4.10]. The main result of [KP20] is the following. This will be another key ingredient in the proof of our main theorem.

THEOREM 3.6 [KP20, Theorem 1.1]. Let k be an infinite perfect field. Let $V = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ be a smooth semi-local k-scheme essentially of finite type with the set of closed points Σ . Let $m \geq 0$ and $n \geq 1$ be any two integers. Then all maps in (3.2) are isomorphisms.

4. Witt-complex structure on additive higher Chow groups

Let k be an arbitrary field. Let R be a regular (not necessarily semi-local) k-algebra essentially of finite type. Our goal here is to define the structure of a restricted Witt complex on the additive higher Chow groups of $\operatorname{Spec}(R)$ over R. We need the results of [KP15] and [KP16]. We write $V = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ and $\operatorname{TCH}^{\bullet}(R; m) = \bigoplus_{n \geq 1} \operatorname{TCH}^{n}(R, n; m)$ for any $m \geq 0$. Then $(\operatorname{TCH}^{\bullet}(R; m))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a projective system of graded abelian groups.

Before we describe the restricted Witt-complex structure on the additive higher Chow groups, we recall the following baby case from [KP16, Proposition 7.6]. For any polynomial $f(t) \in R[t]$ with $f(0) \in R^{\times}$, the closed subscheme $V(f(t)) \subset V \times \mathbb{A}^1$ defines an additive cycle in $TCH^1(R, 1; m)$ for any $m \geq 0$. We denote this cycle by $\Gamma_{(f(t))}$. As part of the restricted Witt-complex structure over R on the additive higher Chow groups, the map

$$\lambda_R \colon \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathrm{TCH}^1(R,1;m)$$
 (4.1)

is determined by $\lambda_R([a]) = \Gamma_{(1-at)}$ for $a \in R$. This uniquely defines λ_R because every element in $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ has a unique expression $w = (a_i) = \sum_{i=1}^m V_i([a]_{\lfloor m/i \rfloor})$ (see (2.1)). In particular, $\lambda_R(w) = \sum_{i=1}^m \Gamma_{(1-a_it^i)}$. This map is an isomorphism by [KP16, Theorem 7.12] if R is a UFD (e.g. R is regular semi-local).

4.1 Witt-complex structure for smooth algebras

We now describe the remaining part of the Witt-complex structure on the additive higher Chow groups.

LEMMA 4.1. Assume that R is a smooth k-algebra. Then $(TCH^{\bullet}(R; m))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a restricted Witt complex over R.

Proof. We assume first that k is perfect. Let $V = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$. If $p \neq 2$, then the lemma is [KP16, Theorem 1.2]. Thus, we assume that p = 2. In this case, if one closely follows the arguments of [KP15] and [KP16], then one will notice that there is exactly one place where we used the assumption $p \neq 2$, namely, to show that $\delta^2 = 0$ for the cycle-theoretic differential operator δ

on $\mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(R; m) = \mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(V; m)$ (see [KP16, Definition 6.2]). However, it turns out that this vanishing actually follows from the other properties of $\mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(V; m)$ proven in [KP15] and [KP16] without using any assumption on p. We explain this in the following.

Let $\mathcal{R}\colon \mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(V;m+1) \to \mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(V;m)$ denote the obvious restriction map. Let $F_r\colon \mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(V;rm+r-1) \to \mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(V;m)$ denote the Frobenius map given by the push-forward via the map $\phi_r\colon \mathbb{A}^1 \to \mathbb{A}^1$, where $\phi_r(t) = t^r$ (see [KP16, § 7.1]). Let $V_r\colon \mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(V;m) \to \mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(V;rm+r-1)$ be the Verschiebung map given by the flat pull-back via ϕ_r . It was shown in the proofs of [KP15, Theorem 5.13] and [KP16, Theorem 7.1] that F_r, V_r and δ satisfy the identity

$$F_r \delta V_r = \delta \quad \forall \, r \ge 1 \tag{4.2}$$

on the additive higher Chow groups of V.

As part of the proof of this identity, it was also shown (as the first claim) in the proof of [KP15, Theorem 5.13, Part 2, p. 45] that F_r and δ satisfy the identity

$$rF_r\delta = \delta F_r \quad \forall \, r \ge 1$$
 (4.3)

on the additive higher Chow groups of V. Furthermore, the proofs of the above two identities do not use any condition on k. (Recall from [Hes15, Lemma 4.3] that (4.3) is one of the properties of a restricted Witt complex.) We now show that these two identities are enough to conclude that $\delta^2 = 0$.

Suppose, in general, that $m \geq 0$ is an integer and let $\alpha \in \text{TCH}^q(V, n; m)$ be a cycle class. Then the normalization theorem [KP16, Theorem 3.2] says that α is represented by a cycle (also denoted by α) such that $\partial_i^{\epsilon}(\alpha) = 0$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n-1$ and $\epsilon \in \{0, \infty\}$. It follows therefore from [KP16, Lemma 6.5] that $2\delta^2(\alpha) = 0$. Combining this with (4.3), we get $\delta F_2\delta(\alpha) = 2F_2\delta^2(\alpha) = F_2(2\delta^2(\alpha)) = 0$. As α and $m \geq 0$ were arbitrary, we conclude that $\delta F_2\delta = 0$ on $\text{TCH}^{\bullet}(V; m)$ for all $m \geq 0$. In particular, $\delta F_2\delta V_2 = 0$ on $\text{TCH}^{\bullet}(V; m)$ for all $m \geq 0$.

We now use (4.2) to conclude $\delta^2 = \delta(F_2\delta V_2) = \delta F_2\delta V_2 = 0$. This finishes the proof of the lemma when k is perfect.

To prove the lemma when k is imperfect, the only thing we need to recall for the reader is that in the construction of the Witt-complex structure on additive higher Chow groups in [KP15] and [KP16], the perfectness of the ground field was required exactly at one place, namely, to construct the product structure on the additive Chow groups of smooth schemes. More specifically, this was needed only in the proof of [KP15, Lemma 2.11]. However, as pointed out by the referee, the proof of the latter result actually goes through without the perfectness assumption. The improved version is Lemma 4.2 below. The rest of the proof of the Witt-complex structure is identical to the perfect base field case.

We let $B_{2,n} = \mathbb{A}^2 \times \square^{n-2}$ and $\bar{B}_{2,n} = \mathbb{A}^2 \times (\mathbb{P}^1)^{n-2}$ for $n \geq 2$. Recall the notion on modulus (m_1, m_2) condition from [KP15, Definition 2.9].

LEMMA 4.2. Let X and Y be smooth k-schemes, and let V_1 and V_2 be irreducible cycles satisfying the modulus m_1 and m_2 conditions on $X \times B_{n_1}$ and $Y \times B_{n_2}$, respectively. Then, $V_1 \times V_2$ satisfies the modulus (m_1, m_2) condition on $X \times Y \times B_{2,n_1+n_2}$.

Proof. Let $W \subset V_1 \times V_2$ be an irreducible component. It is enough to show that W satisfies the modulus (m_1, m_2) condition. Let $\bar{V}_1 \subset X \times \bar{B}_{n_1}$ and $\bar{V}_2 \subset Y \times \bar{B}_{n_2}$ be the Zariski closures of V_1 and V_2 , respectively. Then $\bar{W} \subset X \times Y \times \bar{B}_{2,n_1+n_2}$ is an irreducible component of $\bar{V}_1 \times \bar{V}_2$. Let $\bar{V} = (\bar{V}_1^N \times \bar{V}_2^N)_{\rm red}$.

We now note that $\bar{V}_1 \times \bar{V}_2$ may be neither reduced nor irreducible. Nonetheless, it is equidimensional and the projection $\bar{W} \to \bar{V}_i$ is dominant for each i. It follows that \bar{V}^N is equidimensional with \bar{W}^N one of its irreducible components and the projection $\bar{W}^N \to \bar{V}_i^N$ is dominant for each i. This gives rise to a commutative diagram

$$\bar{W}^{N} \xrightarrow{v_{1}} \bar{V}_{1}^{N} \times Y \times \bar{B}_{n_{2}}$$

$$v_{2} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \iota_{1}$$

$$X \times \bar{B}_{n_{1}} \times \bar{V}_{2}^{N} \xrightarrow{\iota_{2}} X \times Y \times \bar{B}_{2,n_{1}+n_{2}}$$

$$(4.4)$$

where $\iota_1 = (\nu_{\bar{V}_1} \times \text{Id})$ and $\iota_2 = (\text{Id} \times \nu_{\bar{V}_2})$. Let $(t_1, t_2, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}) \in \mathbb{A}^2 \times (\mathbb{P}^1)^{n-1}$ be the coordinates. Then, for $D^1 := \sum_{i=1}^{n_1-1} \{y_i = 1\} - (m_1+1)\{t_1 = 0\}$, $D^2 := \sum_{i=n_1}^{n-1} \{y_i = 1\} - (m_2+1)\{t_2 = 0\}$, and $n-1 = (n_1-1) + (n_2-1)$, we have

$$\iota_1^*(D^1) \ge 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \iota_2^*(D^2) \ge 0.$$
 (4.5)

We should note here that $\bar{V}_1^N \times Y \times \bar{B}_{n_2}$ and $X \times \bar{B}_{n_1} \times \bar{V}_2^N$ are normal (this is ensured by the smoothness of X and Y).

As $\bar{W}^N \to \bar{V}_i^N$ is dominant, we see that $v_1^* \circ \iota_1^*(\sum_{i=1}^{n_1-1} \{y_i = 1\})$ and $v_1^* \circ \iota_1^*((m_1+1)\{t_1 = 0\})$ are effective Cartier divisors on \bar{W}^N . It follows from (4.5) that $v_1^* \circ \iota_1^*(D^1) \geq 0$. Similarly, we have $v_2^* \circ \iota_2^*(D^2) \geq 0$. Combining the two, we get $\nu_{\bar{w}}^*(D^1 + D^2) \geq 0$, which is the modulus (m_1, m_2) condition for W.

Recall from [KP16, Theorem 4.5] that for any map $f: X' \to X$ of k-schemes, where X is smooth and affine (or projective) over k, there is a pull-back map $f^*: \mathrm{TCH}^p(X,q;m) \to$ $TCH^p(X',q;m)$. This is compatible with respect to composition of two morphisms. Moreover, the existence of f^* assumes no condition on k. This respects the Witt structures too.

LEMMA 4.3. Let k be a field and let $f: \operatorname{Spec}(R') \to \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ be a morphism between smooth affine k-schemes essentially of finite type. Then $f^*: (TCH(R;m))_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \to (TCH(R';m))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a morphism of restricted Witt complexes over R.

Proof. The lemma is equivalent to proving the following:

- (1) f^* commutes with products;
- (2) f^* commutes with differentials;
- (3) f^* commutes with \mathcal{R} , F_r , and V_r ; and
- (4) f^* commutes with λ_R .

Part (3) is shown in [KP16, Theorem 7.1] while part (4) is evident from (4.1). We prove parts (1) and (2).

Let $V = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ and $V' = \operatorname{Spec}(R')$. To prove part (1), it suffices to prove it for irreducible cycles. By [KP12a, Proof of Theorem 7.1], there exists a finite set \mathcal{W} of locally closed subsets of V such that the map $f^*: \operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{W}}^q(V, \bullet; m) \to \operatorname{Tz}^q(V', \bullet; m)$ given by $f^*(Z) = [f^{-1}(Z)]$, is welldefined. Here, the group on the left is defined as in Definition 3.2. Choose an irreducible cycle $Z \in \mathrm{Tz}^q_{\mathcal{W}}(V, \bullet; m)$. We claim that there is a finite set \mathcal{C} of locally closed subsets of V such that the following hold.

- $\begin{array}{ll} \text{(i)} & f^* \colon \operatorname{Tz}^q_{\mathcal{C}}(V, \bullet; m) \to \operatorname{Tz}^q(V', \bullet; m) \text{ is defined;} \\ \text{(ii)} & Z \boxtimes Z' \in \operatorname{Tz}^q_{\{\Delta_V\}}(V \times V, \bullet; m) \text{ for all } Z' \in \operatorname{Tz}^q_{\mathcal{C}}(V, \bullet; m); \\ \text{(iii)} & f^*(Z) \boxtimes f^*(Z') \in \operatorname{Tz}^q_{\{\Delta_{X'}\}}(V' \times V', \bullet; m) \text{ for all } Z' \in \operatorname{Tz}^q_{\mathcal{C}}(V, \bullet; m). \end{array}$

Let Z_f be the (finite) collection $\{Z_i \cap (V' \times \mathbb{A}^1 \times F)\}$, where Z_i is an irreducible component of $f^*(Z)$ and $F \subset \square^{n-1}$ is a face. Under the moving lemma [KP16, Theorem 4.10], by the argument of [KP17a, Lemmas 3.5 and 3.10], there exists a finite collection \mathcal{W}' of locally closed subsets of $\{V \times \mathbb{A}^1 \times \square^{n_i}\}$ such that for $\mathrm{Tz}_{\mathcal{W}'}^q(V, \bullet; m)$ in the sense of [KP12b, Definition 5.3],

- (i) $f^* : \operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{W}'}^q(V, \bullet; m) \to \operatorname{Tz}_{Z_f}^q(V', \bullet; m)$ is well-defined;
- (ii) $Z \boxtimes Z' \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\{\Delta_X\}}^q(V \times V, \bullet; m)$ for all $Z' \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{W}'}^q(V, \bullet; m)$; (iii) $Z_i \boxtimes f^*(Z') \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\{\Delta_{V'}\}}^q(V' \times V', \bullet; m)$ for all $Z' \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{W}'}^q(V, \bullet; m)$ and all irreducible components Z_i of $f^*(Z)$.

Furthermore, it follows also by the moving lemma [KP16, Theorem 4.10] and the argument of [KP17a, Lemma 3.4] that there exists a finite collection \mathcal{C}' of locally closed subsets of V such that $\operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{W}'}^q(V, \bullet; m) = \operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{C}'}^q(V, \bullet; m)$. Setting $\mathcal{C} = \mathcal{W} \cup \mathcal{C}'$, we get the proof of the claim.

We now consider the commutative diagram

$$V' \times \mathbb{A}^{1} \xleftarrow{\mu} V' \times \mathbb{A}^{1} \times \mathbb{A}^{1} \xrightarrow{\Delta_{V'}} V' \times V' \times \mathbb{A}^{1} \times \mathbb{A}^{1}$$

$$f \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow f \times f \qquad \qquad \downarrow f \qquad \downarrow f \qquad \qquad \downarrow f \qquad \downarrow$$

where $\mu \colon \mathbb{A}^1 \times \mathbb{A}^1 \to \mathbb{A}^1$ is $(t_1, t_2) \mapsto t_1 t_2$.

If we choose any irreducible cycle $Z' \in \operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{C}}^q(V, \bullet; m)$, then it follows from the above claim that $\Delta_V^*(Z \boxtimes Z')$ and $\Delta_{V'}^* \circ (f \times f)^*(Z \boxtimes Z')$ are admissible cycles. Moreover, by the commutativity of the right square in (4.6), we have $\Delta_{V'}^* \circ (f \times f)^*(Z \boxtimes Z') = f^*(\Delta_V^*(Z \boxtimes Z'))$. In particular, $f^* \circ \Delta_V^*(Z \boxtimes Z')$ is an admissible cycle.

Now by [KP16, Corollary 5.11], the cycles $\mu_* \circ \Delta_{V'}^* \circ (f \times f)^* (Z \boxtimes Z')$ $\mu_* \circ \Delta_V^* \circ (f \times f)^*(Z \boxtimes Z')$ are admissible. As the left square in (4.6) is transverse, we obtain $f^*(Z \cdot Z') = f^* \circ \mu_* \circ \Delta_V^*(Z \boxtimes Z') = \mu_* \circ \Delta_V^* \circ (f \times f)^*(Z \boxtimes Z') = f^*(Z) \cdot f^*(Z').$

Finally, the inclusions $\operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{C}}^q(V, \bullet; m) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Tz}^q(V, \bullet; m)$ and $\operatorname{Tz}_{\mathcal{W}}^q(V, \bullet; m) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Tz}^q(V, \bullet; m)$ are quasi-isomorphisms by [KP16, Theorem 4.10], and this shows part (1).

To prove part (2), recall from [KP16, Definition 6.2] that the differential $\delta = \delta_V : \operatorname{Tz}^q(V, n; m) \to \operatorname{Tz}^{q+1}(V, n+1; m)$ is defined as the push-forward with respect to the map

$$\delta_V \colon V \times \mathbb{G}_m \times \square^{n-1} \to V \times \mathbb{A}^1 \times \square^n;$$

$$\delta(x, t, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}) = (x, t, t^{-1}, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}) \quad \text{for } t \neq 0, 1.$$
 (4.7)

Here, $\delta_{V*}(Z)$ is an irreducible admissible cycle if Z is so, by [KP16, Lemma 6.3, Proposition 6.4]. As the square

$$V' \times \mathbb{G}_m \times \square^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\delta_{V'}} V' \times \mathbb{A}^1 \times \square^n$$

$$f \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f$$

$$V \times \mathbb{G}_m \times \square^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\delta_V} V \times \mathbb{A}^1 \times \square^n$$

is transverse, it follows that $\delta_{V'*} \circ f^*(Z) = f^* \circ \delta_{V*}(Z)$ for every irreducible cycle $Z \in$ $\operatorname{Tz}^q_{\mathcal{C}}(V, \bullet; m)$. We conclude again that $f^* \circ \delta = \delta \circ f^*$ from the quasi-isomorphism $\operatorname{Tz}^q_{\mathcal{C}}(V, \bullet; m) \hookrightarrow$ $\operatorname{Tz}^q(V,\bullet;m)$. The proof of the lemma is now complete.

4.2 Witt-complex structure for regular algebras

Our next goal is to generalize Lemmas 4.1 and 4.3 to regular semi-local (not necessarily smooth) schemes over a field. We shall do this using the continuity property of the additive higher Chow groups. We need some intermediate results.

The following lemma is [KP12a, Lemma 2.2].

LEMMA 4.4. Let $f: Y \to X$ be a surjective map of normal integral Noetherian schemes. Let D be a Cartier divisor on X such that $f^*(D) \ge 0$ on Y. Then $D \ge 0$ on X.

LEMMA 4.5. Let $k \hookrightarrow K$ be an extension of fields. Let $\lambda : R \to R'$ be a faithfully flat morphism of Noetherian k-algebras such that $K \hookrightarrow R'$. Let $X = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ and $X' = \operatorname{Spec}(R')$. Then the induced map of schemes $X' \times_K \mathbb{A}^1_K \times_K \overline{\square}^{n-1}_K \to X \times_k \mathbb{A}^1_k \times_k \overline{\square}^{n-1}_k$ is also faithfully flat.

Proof. As the statement of the lemma is local on $X \times_k \mathbb{A}^1_k \times_k \overline{\square}^{n-1}_k$, we can replace $\overline{\square}^{n-1}_k \simeq \mathbb{P}^{n-1}_k$ by \mathbb{A}^{n-1}_k . The problem then reduces to showing that the map $R[t, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}] \to R'[t, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}]$ is faithfully flat. This is obvious because $R \to R'$ is faithfully flat.

The next result says that the additive higher Chow functor on the category of affine k-schemes with flat morphisms is a continuous contravariant functor.

LEMMA 4.6. Let $k \hookrightarrow K$ be a field extension, not necessarily finitely generated. Let R be a K-algebra essentially of finite type. Let $\{R_i\}_{i\in I}$ be a direct system of k-algebras essentially of finite type, such that the transition map $\lambda_{ij} \colon R_i \to R_j$ is faithfully flat, and $\varinjlim_i R_i = R$. Then the flat pull-backs of (additive) higher Chow groups induce isomorphisms $\varinjlim_i \operatorname{CH}^q(R_i, n) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{CH}^q(R, n)$ and $\varinjlim_i \operatorname{TCH}^q(R_i, n; m) \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{TCH}^q(R, n; m)$ for all $m \geq 0, n, q \geq 1$.

Proof. The proofs for the higher Chow groups and additive higher Chow groups are identical. Thus, we prove the latter case only. As the homology functor commutes with the direct limit, it suffices to show that the lemma holds on the level of cycle complexes. We set $V_i = \operatorname{Spec}(R_i)$ and $V = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$. Let $\lambda'_i : R_i \to R$ be the natural map. This is also faithfully flat; this follows from the fact that a direct limit of flat modules is flat, and an R_i -module M is faithfully flat if and only if it is flat and $\mathfrak{m}M \neq 0$ for every nonzero maximal ideal $\mathfrak{m} \subset R_i$ (see [Mat86, Theorem 7.2, p. 47]).

The projections $\operatorname{Spec}(K) \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ and $V \to V_j \to V_i$ between k-schemes induce the projection maps $V \times_K \mathbb{A}^1_K \times_K \overline{\square}_K^{n-1} \to V_i \times_k \mathbb{A}^1_k \times_k \overline{\square}_k^{n-1}$. This morphism is faithfully flat. It induces the pull-back maps between the cycle groups $\operatorname{Tz}^q(V_i, n; m) \xrightarrow{\lambda_{ij}^*} \operatorname{Tz}^q(V_j, n; m) \xrightarrow{\lambda_j^{i*}} \operatorname{Tz}^q(V_j, n; m)$.

The injectivity of the map $\varinjlim_i \operatorname{Tz}^q(V_i, \bullet; m) \to \operatorname{Tz}^q(V, \bullet; m)$ is obvious. To show its surjectivity, let $Z \in \operatorname{Tz}^q(V, n; m)$ be an irreducible admissible cycle and let $\bar{Z} \subset V \times_K \mathbb{A}_K^1 \times_K \overline{\square}_K^{n-1}$ be its Zariski closure and $\nu_Z : \bar{Z}^N \to V \times_K \mathbb{A}_K^1 \times \overline{\square}_K^{n-1}$ the normalization map. As each of $f_i := \operatorname{Spec}(\lambda_i) : V_{i+1} \to V_i$ and $f_i' := \operatorname{Spec}(\lambda_i') : V \to V_i$ is faithfully flat, by Lemma 4.5, the product maps $\tilde{f}_i : V_{i+1} \times_k \mathbb{A}_k^1 \times_k \overline{\square}_k^{n-1} \to V_i \times_k \mathbb{A}_k^1 \times_k \overline{\square}_k^{n-1}$ and $\tilde{f}_i' : V \times_K \mathbb{A}_K^1 \times_K \overline{\square}_K^{n-1} \to V_i \times_k \mathbb{A}_k^1 \times_k \overline{\square}_k^{n-1}$ are faithfully flat maps of Noetherian k-schemes.

As $V = \varprojlim_i V_i$, it follows from the above faithfully flatness that there exists $i \gg 0$ and an irreducible cycle $\bar{Z}_i \hookrightarrow V_i \times_k \mathbb{A}^1_k \times_k \overline{\square}_k^{n-1}$ such that $(\tilde{f}'_i)^*(\bar{Z}_i) = \bar{Z}$ and $Z_i := \bar{Z}_i \cap (V_i \times_k \mathbb{A}^1_k \times_k \square_k^{n-1}) \in z^q(V_i \times_k \mathbb{A}^1_k, n-1)$.

As the right square in the following commutative diagram

$$\bar{Z}^{N} \xrightarrow{\nu_{Z}} V \times_{K} \mathbb{A}^{1}_{K} \times_{K} \overline{\square}^{n-1}_{K} \longleftrightarrow V \times_{K} \mathbb{A}^{1}_{K} \times_{K} \overline{\square}^{n-1}_{K}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad$$

is Cartesian, we must have $Z = (\widetilde{f}'_i)^*(Z_i)$.

As \tilde{f}'_i is faithfully flat, it follows that $\bar{Z} = (\tilde{f}'_i)^*(\bar{Z}_i) \to \bar{Z}_i$ is also faithfully flat. In particular, it is surjective. We conclude that the induced map $\bar{Z}^N \to \bar{Z}_i^N$ on the normalizations is also surjective. As \bar{Z} satisfies the modulus condition, we can now apply Lemma 4.4 to conclude that Z_i also satisfies the modulus condition and, hence, it is in $\operatorname{Tz}^q(V_i, n; m)$. This finishes the proof.

We can now prove the following improvement of Lemma 4.1:

THEOREM 4.7. Let k be any field and let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Then $(TCH^{\bullet}(R;m))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a restricted Witt complex over R.

If $f: R \to R'$ is a morphism of regular semi-local k-algebras essentially of finite type, then there exists a pull-back map $f^*: (\mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(R;m))_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \to (\mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(R';m))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$, which is a morphism of restricted Witt complexes over R.

Proof. If k is finite, the theorem follows from Lemmas 4.1 and 4.3. Thus, we may now assume that k is infinite and p > 1.

Let $\{R_i\}_{i\in I}$ be the direct system of subrings in R as in Lemma 2.3. As each transition map $\lambda_{ij} \colon R_i \to R_j$ is flat, we have the pull-back maps of projective systems $\lambda_{ij}^* \colon (\mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(R_i; m))_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \to (\mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(R_j; m))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$.

As each R_i is a smooth \mathbb{F}_p -algebra essentially of finite type, it follows from Lemma 4.1 that $(\mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(R_i;m))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a restricted Witt complex over R_i . Furthermore, it follows from Lemma 4.3 that each λ_{ij}^* is a morphism of restricted Witt complexes over R_i . Thus, we conclude from Lemma 2.6 that $(\varinjlim_i \mathrm{TCH}^{\bullet}(R_i;m))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ forms a restricted Witt complex over R. The first part of the theorem now follows Lemma 4.6. The second part follows directly by combining Lemmas 2.5, 4.3, and 4.6.

As the higher Chow groups of smooth schemes over a field have a ring structure, an identical proof also shows the following result.

THEOREM 4.8. Let k be any field and let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Then $(CH^{\bullet}(R, n))_{n>0}$ is a graded commutative ring.

If $f: R \to R'$ is a morphism of essentially of finite type regular semi-local k-algebras, then there exists a pull-back ring homomorphism $f^*: (CH^{\bullet}(R, n))_{n \geq 0} \to (CH^{\bullet}(R', n))_{n \geq 0}$.

Using Theorems 4.7 and 4.8, we get a direct extension of Proposition 3.1 to regular algebras over arbitrary fields.

COROLLARY 4.9. Let k be any field and let R be a regular k-algebra essentially of finite type. Then there is a natural cap product map

$$\cap_R : \mathrm{TCH}^q(R, n; m) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathrm{CH}^p(R, n') \to \mathrm{TCH}^{p+q}(R, n+n'; m).$$

This commutes with the pull-back and push-forward whenever they exist. This is given by $a \cap_R b = \Delta_R^*(a \times b)$, where Δ_R^* is the pull-back via the diagonal map Δ_R : Spec $(R) \to \text{Spec}(R) \times \text{Spec}(R)$.

PROPOSITION 4.10. Let $f: R \to R'$ be a finite and injective morphism of regular semi-local k-algebras essentially of finite type. Let $m \ge 0$ and $n, r \ge 1$ be integers. Then the push-forward maps $f_*: \mathrm{TCH}^n(R', n; m) \to \mathrm{TCH}^n(R, n; m)$ satisfy

$$\Re f_* = f_* \Re; \quad \delta f_* = f_* \delta; \quad F_r f_* = f_* F_r; \quad V_r f_* = f_* V_r.$$

Furthermore, one has $f_*(yf^*(x)) = f_*(y)x$ for $x \in TCH^n(R, n; m)$ and $y \in TCH^n(R', n; m)$.

Proof. Note that f must be flat in our case (see [Har77, Exercise III-10.9, p. 276] or [EGAIV, Proposition (6.1.5), p. 136]). The first part is [KP16, Proposition 7.3] and the second part is [KP15, Theorem 3.10] (whose proof does not require projectivity of the underlying schemes if the morphisms between them is finite and flat).

5. The de Rham-Witt-Chow homomorphism

In this section, we construct one of the main objects of our study: the de Rham-Witt-Chow homomorphism. This is a map from the de Rham-Witt forms of a regular semi-local k-algebra (essentially) of finite type to its additive higher Chow groups. The main goal of this paper is to show that this map is an isomorphism. This section also includes the key lemma to prove the surjectivity of this map. We fix an arbitrary field k.

5.1 The homomorphism $\tau_{n,m}^R$

Let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. As $\{\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^{\bullet}\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is the initial object in the category of restricted Witt complexes over R, it follows from Theorem 4.7 that there is a unique homomorphism of groups

$$\tau_{n,m}^R \colon \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1} \to \mathrm{TCH}^n(R, n; m).$$
 (5.1)

The homomorphisms $\{\tau_{n,m}^R\}_{m,n\geq 1}$ form a morphism of restricted Witt complexes over R such that $\tau_{1,m}^R$ is given by (4.1). We shall often denote the collection $\{\tau_{n,m}^R\}_{m,n\geq 1}$ by τ_{\bullet}^R .

An easy consequence of Theorem 4.7 is the following functoriality of $\tau_{n,m}^R$.

PROPOSITION 5.1. Let $f: R \to R'$ be a morphism between regular semi-local k-algebras essentially of finite type. Then the diagram

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{R}} \operatorname{TCH}^{n}(R, n; m)$$

$$f^{*} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f^{*}$$

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R'}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{R'}} \operatorname{TCH}^{n}(R', n; m)$$
(5.2)

commutes for all integers m, n > 1.

Proof. The left vertical arrow is a morphism of restricted Witt complexes over R by Theorem 4.7. The maps τ_{\bullet}^R and $\tau_{\bullet}^{R'}$ are morphisms of restricted Witt complexes over R. It follows that $f^* \circ \tau_{\bullet}^R$ and $\tau_{\bullet}^{R'} \circ f^*$ are both morphisms of restricted Witt complexes over R. Using (4.1), the diagram (5.2) is easily seen to commute when n = 1. As $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{\bullet}$ is the universal restricted Witt complex over R, we must have $f^* \circ \tau_{\bullet}^R = \tau_{\bullet}^{R'} \circ f^*$ on $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{\bullet}$.

When R is a smooth k-algebra, then Lemma 4.1 says that $(TCH^{\bullet}(R; m))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a restricted Witt complex over R even if it not necessarily semi-local. We thus obtain the following result.

THEOREM 5.2. Let k be any field and let R be a smooth k-algebra essentially of finite type. Then there is a unique homomorphism of groups

$$\tau_{n,m}^R \colon \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1} \to \mathrm{TCH}^n(R, n; m)$$
(5.3)

such that $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is functorial in R. The homomorphisms $\{\tau_{n,m}^R\}_{m,n\geq 1}$ form a morphism of restricted Witt complexes over R such that $\tau_{1,m}^R$ is given by (4.1).

The following is also a direct consequence of the Witt-complex structure on the additive higher Chow groups of R.

COROLLARY 5.3. As the maps in (5.1) give a morphism of restricted Witt complexes over R, we deduce the following identities:

$$\tau_{n,m}^R d = \delta \tau_{n-1,m}^R; \quad \tau_{n,rm+r-1}^R V_r = V_r \tau_{n,m}^R; \quad \tau_{n,m}^R F_r = F_r \tau_{n,rm+r-1}^R.$$
(5.4)

The second identity of (5.4) implies the following variation, up to applying \Re :

$$\tau_{n,m}^R V_r = V_r \tau_{n,|m/r|}^R. (5.5)$$

As an easy consequence of Proposition 2.8, we now have the following easier part of Theorem 1.1:

LEMMA 5.4. Let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Then $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is a monomorphism for all m, n > 1.

Proof. We take R' to be the total ring of quotients of R and apply Propositions 2.8 and 5.1. As R' is a product of fields, by the commutative diagram (5.2) we are reduced to proving the lemma when R is a field. However, this case follows from [Rül07a, Theorem 1] (when $p \neq 2$) and Theorem A.1 of the appendix (when p = 2).

5.2 Traceability

To prove that the de Rham–Witt–Chow homomorphism is surjective, we want to have the push-forward map on the additive higher Chow groups and the compatible trace map on the de Rham–Witt complexes, associated to a finite and dominant morphism of regular semi-local k-schemes essentially of finite type. The existence of the push-forward map on the additive higher Chow groups is known. Using his duality theory, Ekedahl [Eke84] showed the existence of a theory of trace for the p-typical de Rham–Witt complex $W_m\Omega_R^*$. Using the p-typical decomposition, one can then construct a theory of trace maps for the big de Rham–Witt complex.

Using the sfs-moving lemma (see Theorem 3.6) and Ekedahl's trace, one may construct a map $\kappa_{n,m}^R \colon \mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m) \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1}$. In order to either show directly that an sfs-cycle lies in the image of $\tau_{n,m}^R$ or to show that $\tau_{n,m}^R \circ \kappa_{n,m}^R$ is identity, we need to verify that $\tau_{n,m}^R$ commutes with Ekedahl's trace on $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1}$ and the push-forward map on $\mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m)$. As this is difficult to check, we use an indirect device to complete our program.

We define the notion of 'traceability' of de Rham-Witt forms using the de Rham-Witt-Chow maps and the push-forwards on the cycle groups. Towards the surjectivity of the de Rham-Witt-Chow homomorphism, we show that all de Rham-Witt forms of a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type are traceable.

We start with the known trace map when n = 1. We then use a double induction on $m, n \ge 1$ and various properties of Witt complexes to show the traceability for all $m, n \ge 1$. This is the

main goal of § 5.2. Thanks to the sfs-moving lemma (Theorem 3.6), we only need to do this for simple finite extensions of rings.

We now define traceability.

DEFINITION 5.5. Let $f: R \to S$ be a finite and injective morphism between regular semi-local k-algebras essentially of finite type. Let $m, n \ge 1$ be two integers. Given this, we obtain the following diagram.

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{S}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{S}} \mathrm{TCH}^{n}(S, n; m)$$

$$\downarrow f_{*}$$

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{R}} \mathrm{TCH}^{n}(R, n; m)$$

$$(5.6)$$

We say that a de Rham-Witt form $\omega \in \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_S^{n-1}$ is traceable to R (via cycles) if $f_* \circ \tau_{n,m}^S(\omega) \in \operatorname{Im}(\tau_{n,m}^R)$.

DEFINITION 5.6. A ring extension $R \hookrightarrow S$ is said to be a *simple extension* if it is flat and there exists a monic polynomial $p(t) \in R[t]$ such that $S \simeq R[t]/(p(t))$.

Suppose that R is semi-local and let $e = \deg(p(t))$. Let $a := t \mod(p(t))$ in S. Then S is a finite free R-module with an R-basis $\{1, a, a^2, \ldots, a^{e-1}\}$. We need the following basic fact about the ring of Witt vectors.

LEMMA 5.7. Let S be an R-algebra which is free as an R-module with basis $\{x_1, \ldots, x_e\}$. Let T be a finite truncation set. Then every $\omega \in W_T(S)$ is uniquely written as

$$\omega = \sum_{n \in T} \sum_{i=1}^{e} V_n([c_{n,i}]_{T/n} \cdot [x_i]_{T/n}),$$

for some $c_{n,i} \in R$, where T/n is the truncation set $\{a \in \mathbb{N} \mid an \in T\}$, $[-]_{T/n}$ denotes the Teichmüller lift in $\mathbb{W}_{T/n}(R)$, and V_n is the nth Verschiebung operator.

Proof. Its proof is similar to that of [Rül07a, Lemma 2.20], for instance. Let $\omega = (\omega_n)_{n \in T} \in \mathbb{W}_T(S)$. Suppose $\omega \neq 0$, as otherwise there is nothing to prove. Define an operator φ as follows: first choose $s_0 = \min\{s \in T \mid \omega_s \neq 0\}$. This minimum exists because $\omega \neq 0$. Here, $\omega_{s_0} \in S$ so that there exists a unique expression $\omega_{s_0} = \sum_{i=1}^e c_{s_0,i} \cdot x_i$ in S for some $c_{s_0,i} \in R$. Define $\varphi(\omega) := \omega - V_{s_0}(\sum_{i=1}^e [c_{s_0,i}]_{T/s_0} \cdot [x_i]_{T/s_0})$. We have either $\varphi(\omega) = 0$ or $\varphi(\omega) \neq 0$. In the former case, the argument stops, whereas in the latter case, there exists $s_1 := \min\{s \in T \mid \varphi(\omega)_s \neq 0\}$. By construction, we have $s_1 > s_0$. We repeat this procedure. As $|T| < \infty$, there exists $N \geq 1$ such that eventually $\varphi^N(\omega) = 0$.

When S is a simple extension of R, and $T = \{1, ..., m\}$, we immediately deduce that $\omega = \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=0}^{e-1} V_i([c_{i,j}]_{\lfloor m/i \rfloor} \cdot [a]_{\lfloor m/i \rfloor}^j)$.

Recall from [Rül07a, Proposition A.9] that for a finite free extension of rings $R \hookrightarrow S$, and $m \ge 1$, there is a trace map $\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R} \colon \mathbb{W}_m(S) \to \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ which commutes with the Frobenius and the Verschiebung operators, and satisfies other usual properties of the trace maps. This $\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}$ is given as follows: for the finite free extension $R[[t]] \to S[[t]]$, we have the norm map $\operatorname{N}_{S/R} \colon (S[[t]])^{\times} \to (R[[t]])^{\times}$ given by the determinant of the left multiplication maps. This induces a map $\operatorname{N}_{S/R} \colon (1+tS[[t]])^{\times}/(1+t^{m+1}S[[t]])^{\times} \to (1+tR[[t]])^{\times}/(1+t^{m+1}R[[t]])^{\times}$. This $\operatorname{N}_{S/R}$ is the definition of $\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}$ via the identification (2.1).

LEMMA 5.8. Let $R \hookrightarrow S$ be a simple extension of regular semi-local k-algebras essentially of finite type and let $m \ge 1$ be an integer. Then the diagram

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}(S) \xrightarrow{\tau_{1,m}^{S}} \mathrm{TCH}^{1}(S,1;m)$$

$$\mathrm{Tr}_{S/R} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f_{*}$$

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}(R) \xrightarrow{\tau_{1,m}^{R}} \mathrm{TCH}^{1}(R,1;m)$$
(5.7)

commutes, where $f: \operatorname{Spec}(S) \to \operatorname{Spec}(R)$ is the induced map.

Proof. Using Proposition 4.10 and Lemma 5.7, it remains to check that $\tau_{1,m}^R(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([x])) = f_*([\Gamma_{(1-xt)}])$ for all $x \in S$, where $\Gamma_{(1-xt)}$ is the cycle in $\operatorname{TCH}^1(S,1;m)$ corresponding to the ideal $(1-xt) \subset S[t]$. As $[x] \in \mathbb{W}_m(S)$ corresponds to $1-xt \in (1+tS[[t]])^\times/(1+t^{m+1}S[[t]])^\times$, by the definition of $\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}$, we have $\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([x]) = \operatorname{N}_{S/R}(1-xt)$. On the other hand, for a polynomial representative $g(t) \in (1+tR[[t]])^\times/(1+t^{m+1}R[[t]])^\times$, we have $\tau_{1,m}^R(g(t)) = [\Gamma_{(g(t))}]$, by definition. Hence, $\tau_{1,m}^R(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([x])) = \tau_{1,m}^R(\operatorname{N}_{R/S}(1-xt)) = [\Gamma_{(N_{S/R}(1-xt))}]$.

By [Ful98, Proposition 1.4(2)], we have $f_*(\operatorname{div}(1-xt)) = [\operatorname{div}(\operatorname{N}_{S/R}(1-xt))]$. As 1-xt

By [Ful98, Proposition 1.4(2)], we have $f_*(\operatorname{div}(1-xt)) = [\operatorname{div}(\operatorname{N}_{S/R}(1-xt))]$. As 1-xt and $\operatorname{N}_{S/R}(1-xt)$ are regular functions, we have $\operatorname{div}(1-xt) = \Gamma_{(1-xt)}$ and $\operatorname{div}(\operatorname{N}_{S/R}(1-xt)) = \Gamma_{(\operatorname{N}_{S/R}(1-xt))}$. This yields the equality of cycles $[\Gamma_{(\operatorname{N}_{S/R}(1-xt))}] = f_*([\Gamma_{(1-xt)}])$. Hence, we have $\tau_{1,m}^R(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([x])) = [\Gamma_{(\operatorname{N}_{S/R}(1-xt))}] = f_*([\Gamma_{(1-xt)}])$, as desired.

The main result of this section is the following.

PROPOSITION 5.9. Assume that k is a perfect field. Let $R \hookrightarrow S$ be a simple extension of regular semi-local k-algebras essentially of finite type and let $m, n \ge 1$ be integers. Then every $\omega \in \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_S^{n-1}$ is traceable to R.

Proof. Let $p(t) \in R[t]$ be a monic polynomial of degree e such that $S \simeq R[t]/(p(t))$. Let $a = t \mod p(t)$ so that $\{1, a, \ldots, a^{e-1}\}$ is an R-basis of S. For $m, n \geq 1$, let $P_{n,m}$ be the statement: every member of $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_S^{n-1}$ is traceable to R.

We prove the proposition by a double induction argument on the variables $(n, m) \in \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$. Note that the statement $P_{1,m}$ holds for all $m \geq 1$ by Lemma 5.8. In particular, $P_{1,1}$ is also true.

Case 1. We show first that $P_{n,1}$ holds for all $n \geq 1$.

Subcase 1-1. To show $P_{2,1}$, note that every element of $\mathbb{W}_1\Omega_S^1 \simeq \Omega_{S/\mathbb{Z}}^1$ is a finite sum of 1-forms of the type $ca^id(c'a^j) = ca^{i+j}dc' + jcc'a^{i+j-1}da$ for some $c, c' \in R$. Thus, we are reduced to showing that 1-forms of the types ca^idc' and ca^ida are traceable for all $c, c' \in R$ and $i \geq 0$.

For $ca^i dc'$, we have

$$f_* \circ \tau_{2,1}^S(ca^idc') =^{\dagger} f_*(\tau_{1,1}^S(a^i) \cdot \tau_{2,1}^S(cdc')) = f_*(\tau_{1,1}^S(a^i) \cdot \tau_{2,1}^S(f^*(cdc')))$$

$$=^{\dagger} f_*(\tau_{1,1}^S(a^i) \cdot f^*(\tau_{2,1}^R(cdc'))) =^{\dagger} f_*(\tau_{1,1}^S(a^i)) \cdot \tau_{2,1}^R(cdc')$$

$$=^{\dagger} \tau_{1,1}^R(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}(a^i)) \cdot \tau_{2,1}^R(cdc') =^{\dagger} \tau_{2,1}^R(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}(a^i) \cdot (cdc')). \tag{5.8}$$

Here, the equalities $=^{\dagger}$ hold because $\tau_{m,n}^R$ and $\tau_{m,n}^S$ are morphisms of DGAs. The equality $=^{\ddagger}$ holds by Proposition 5.1, $=^1$ by the projection formula for the additive higher Chow groups (see e.g. [KP15, Theorem 3.19], the proof of which does not require the projectivity of the underlying schemes), and $=^2$ holds by Lemma 5.8. We conclude that 1-forms of the type ca^idc' are traceable to R.

Next, for $ca^i da$, note that by the part of the definition of a restricted Witt complex in § 2.4(v), we can write $ca^i da = cF_{i+1}d[a]$, using the Frobenius operator. Hence,

$$f_{*} \circ \tau_{2,1}^{S}(ca^{i}da) = f_{*} \circ \tau_{2,1}^{S}(cF_{i+1}d[a]) = f_{*} \circ \tau_{2,1}^{S}(f^{*}(c)F_{i+1}d[a])$$

$$= {}^{0} f_{*}(\tau_{1,1}^{S}(f^{*}(c)) \cdot \tau_{2,1}^{S}(F_{i+1}d[a])) = {}^{\dagger} f_{*}(\tau_{1,1}^{S}(f^{*}(c)) \cdot F_{i+1}\delta\tau_{1,2i+1}^{S}([a]))$$

$$= {}^{\dagger} f_{*}(f^{*}(\tau_{1,1}^{R}(c)) \cdot F_{i+1}\delta\tau_{1,2i+1}^{S}([a])) = {}^{1} \tau_{1,1}^{R}(c) \cdot f_{*}F_{i+1}\delta\tau_{1,2i+1}^{S}([a])$$

$$= {}^{2} \tau_{1,1}^{R}(c) \cdot F_{i+1}\delta f_{*}\tau_{1,2i+1}^{S}([a]) = {}^{3} \tau_{1,1}^{R}(c) \cdot F_{i+1}\delta\tau_{1,2i+1}^{R}(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([a]))$$

$$= {}^{\dagger} \tau_{1,1}^{R}(c) \cdot F_{i+1}\tau_{2,2i+1}^{R}(d(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([a]))) = {}^{\dagger} \tau_{1,1}^{R}(c) \cdot \tau_{2,1}^{R}F_{i+1}d(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([a]))$$

$$= {}^{0} \tau_{2,1}^{R}(c \cdot F_{i+1}d(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}(a))), \tag{5.9}$$

where the equalities $=^0$ hold because $\tau_{n,m}^R$ and $\tau_{n,m}^S$ are morphisms of DGAs, the equalities $=^{\dagger}$ hold by (5.4), the equality $=^{\dagger}$ holds by Proposition 5.1, $=^1$ holds by the projection formula for f_* and f^* , $=^2$ holds by Proposition 4.10, and $=^3$ holds by Lemma 5.8. We conclude that 1-forms of the type ca^ida are traceable to R. Hence, $P_{2,1}$ is true.

Subcase 1-2. Suppose now that n > 2 and that the statements $P_{i,1}$ are true for all $1 \le i < n$. It suffices to show that the forms of the type $\omega = c_0 a^{i_0} d(c_1 a^{i_1}) \wedge \cdots \wedge d(c_{n-1} a^{i_{n-1}})$ are traceable to R, where $c_0, \ldots, c_{n-1} \in R$ and $i_0, \ldots, i_{n-1} \ge 0$ are integers. Each $d(c_j a^{i_j})$ is equal to $a^{i_j} dc_j + i_j c_j a^{i_j-1} da$ by the Leibniz rule, so that expanding the terms of ω , we reduce to show that every element of the form

$$\omega_0 := c_0 a^i dc_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge dc_s \wedge \underbrace{da \wedge \cdots \wedge da}_{n-s-1}$$

is traceable to R, where $0 \le s \le n-1$ and $c_0, \ldots, c_s \in R$.

- If n-s-1=0, then the traceability of ω follows by repeating the steps in (5.8) verbatim.
- If n-s-1=1, let $\omega_0':=a^ida$ so that $\omega_0=c_0dc_1\wedge\cdots\wedge dc_s\wedge\omega_0'$. As $P_{2,1}$ is true, we can write $f_*\tau_{2,1}^S(\omega_0')=^{\spadesuit}\tau_{2,1}^R(\omega_0'')$ for some $\omega_0''\in\Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$. Set $\eta:=c_0dc_1\wedge\cdots\wedge dc_s\in\Omega^s_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$. Then, we have

$$f_* \circ \tau_{n,1}^S(\omega_0) = f_* \circ \tau_{n,1}^S(\eta \wedge \omega_0') = f_* \circ \tau_{n,1}^S(f^*(\eta) \wedge \omega_0')$$

$$=^{\dagger} f_*(\tau_{n-1,1}^S f^*(\eta) \wedge \tau_{2,1}^S(\omega_0')) =^{\ddagger} f_*(f^*\tau_{n-1,1}^R(\eta) \wedge \tau_{2,1}^S(\omega_0'))$$

$$=^{\dagger} \tau_{n-1,1}^R(\eta) \wedge f_*\tau_{2,1}^S(\omega_0') =^{\spadesuit} \tau_{n-1,1}^R(\eta) \wedge \tau_{2,1}^R(\omega_0'') =^{\dagger} \tau_{n,1}^R(\eta \wedge \omega_0''), \tag{5.10}$$

where the equalities $=^{\dagger}$ hold because $\tau_{n,m}^R$ and $\tau_{n,m}^S$ are morphisms of DGAs, $=^{\dagger}$ holds by Proposition 5.1, and $=^{\dagger}$ holds by the projection formula for f_* and f^* . We conclude that ω_0 is traceable to R.

• If n-1-s>1, then $\omega_0=0$ because $da\wedge da=0$ by Lemma 2.7. Thus, ω_0 is traceable to R.

We have thus shown so far that $P_{n,1}$ and $P_{1,m}$ are true for all $n, m \ge 1$.

Case 2. We now show that $P_{n,m}$ is true in general by using double induction on (n,m). Fix $m, n \ge 2$ and suppose that we know $P_{i,j}$ holds for all $1 \le i \le n$, $1 \le j \le m$, except (i,j) = (n,m).

 $m,n\geq 2$ and suppose that we know $P_{i,j}$ holds for all $1\leq i\leq n,1\leq j\leq m$, except (i,j)=(n,m). Through the surjection $\Omega^{n-1}_{\mathbb{W}_m(S)}\twoheadrightarrow \mathbb{W}_m\Omega^{n-1}_S$ and Lemma 5.7, we know that every element in $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^{n-1}_S$ is a sum of de Rham–Witt forms of the type $\omega=V_{r_0}([c_0][a]^{i_0})\cdot dV_{r_1}([c_1][a]^{i_1})\wedge\cdots\wedge dV_{r_{n-1}}([c_{n-1}][a]^{i_{n-1}})$, where $c_0,\ldots,c_{n-1}\in R,\ r_0,\ldots,r_{n-1}\in\{1,\ldots,m\}$, and $0\leq i_0,\ldots,i_{n-1}\leq e-1$.

Subcase 2-1. First, consider the case $r_0 > 1$. Let $\omega_0 := dV_{r_1}([c_1][a]^{i_1}) \wedge \cdots \wedge dV_{r_{n-1}}([c_{n-1}][a]^{i_n})$ $[a]^{i_{n-1}}$). In this case, we can write

$$\omega = V_{r_0}([c_0][a]^{i_0}) \cdot \omega_0 = V_{r_0}([c_0][a]^{i_0} \cdot F_{r_0}(\omega_0))$$

by the projection formula for V_r and F_r (see § 2.4(iii)). As $\omega_0' := [c_0][a]^{i_0} \cdot F_{r_0}(\omega_0) \in \mathbb{W}_{\lfloor m/r_0 \rfloor} \Omega_S^{n-1}$, it is traceable to R by the induction hypothesis $P_{n,\lfloor m/r_0 \rfloor}$. In particular, there exists $\eta \in$ $\mathbb{W}_{\lfloor m/r_0\rfloor}\Omega_R^{n-1}$ such that $f_*\tau_{n,\lfloor m/r_0\rfloor}^S(\omega_0')=^{\clubsuit}\tau_{n,\lfloor m/r_0\rfloor}^R(\eta)$. This, in turn, yields

$$\begin{split} f_*\tau_{n,m}^S(\omega) &= f_*\tau_{n,m}^S V_{r_0}(\omega_0') =^\dagger f_*V_{r_0}\tau_{n,\lfloor m/r_0\rfloor}^S(\omega_0') \\ &=^{\dagger} V_{r_0}f_*\tau_{n,\lfloor m/r_0\rfloor}^S(\omega_0') =^{\clubsuit} V_{r_0}\tau_{n,\lfloor m/r_0\rfloor}^R(\eta) =^\dagger \tau_{n,m}^R(V_{r_0}\eta), \end{split}$$

where the equalities \dagger hold by (5.5), and \ddagger holds by Proposition 4.10. This shows that ω is traceable to R.

Subcase 2-2. Suppose now that $r_0 = 1$, but for some j > 0, we have $r_j > 1$. We may assume that $r_1 > 1$ without loss of generality. We let $\omega_0 := dV_{r_2}([c_2][a]^{i_2}) \wedge \cdots \wedge dV_{r_{n-1}}([c_{n-1}][a]^{i_{n-1}})$. By the Leibniz rule, we have

$$\begin{split} V_{r_0}([c_0][a]^{i_0}) \cdot dV_{r_1}([c_1][a]^{i_1}) &= [c_0][a]^{i_0} \cdot dV_{r_1}([c_1][a]^{i_1}) \\ &= d([c_0][a]^{i_0} \cdot V_{r_1}([c_1][a]^{i_1})) - V_{r_1}([c_1][a]^{i_1}) \cdot d([c_0][a]^{i_0}). \end{split}$$

Hence, $\omega = \omega_1 - \omega_2$, where $\omega_1 := d([c_0][a]^{i_0} \cdot V_{r_1}([c_1][a]^{i_1})) \wedge \omega_0$ and $\omega_2 = V_{r_1}([c_1][a]^{i_1}) \cdot d([c_0][a]^{i_0})$

$$\begin{split} f_*\tau_{n,m}^S(\omega_1) &= f_*\tau_{n,m}^S(d(\omega_1'\cdot\omega_0)) =^\dagger f_*\delta(\tau_{n-1,m}^S(\omega_1'\cdot\omega_0)) \\ &=^{\dagger} \delta f_*\tau_{n-1,m}^S(\omega_1'\cdot\omega_0) =^{\heartsuit} \delta \tau_{n-1,m}^R(\eta) =^\dagger \tau_{n,m}^R(d\eta), \end{split}$$

where the equalities $=^{\dagger}$ hold by (5.4) because $\tau_{n,m}^R$ and $\tau_{n,m}^S$ are morphism of DGAs, and $=^{\ddagger}$ holds by Proposition 4.10. Hence, ω_1 is traceable to R. As ω_2 is of the form considered in subcase 2-1, it is also traceable to R. Thus, $\omega = \omega_1 - \omega_2$ is traceable to R.

Subcase 2-3. Now, the remaining case is when all $r_0 = r_1 = \cdots = r_{n-1} = 1$, i.e. $\omega =$ $[c_0][a]^{i_0}d([c_1][a]^{i_1}) \wedge \cdots \wedge d([c_{n-1}][a]^{i_{n-1}})$. Its proof is almost identical to that of subcase 1-2, which we argue now. Each $d([c_i][a]^{i_j})$ is equal to $[a]^{i_j}d[c_i]+i_i[c_i][a]^{i_j-1}d[a]$ by the Leibniz rule, so that expanding the terms of ω , we are reduced to showing that elements of the form

$$\omega_0 := [c_0][a]^i d[c_1] \wedge \dots \wedge d[c_s] \wedge \underbrace{d[a] \wedge \dots \wedge d[a]}_{n-s-1}$$
(5.11)

are traceable, where $0 \le s \le n-1$ and $c_0, \ldots, c_s \in R$.

- If n-s-1=0, then we can use Proposition 5.1, Lemma 5.8, and repeat the steps of (5.8) verbatim to conclude that ω_0 is traceable to R.
- If n-s-1=1, let $\omega_0':=[a]^id[a]$ so that $\omega_0=[c_0]d[c_1]\wedge\cdots\wedge d[c_{n-2}]\wedge\omega_0'$. By the part of definition of a restricted Witt complex in § 2.4(v), we can write $\omega'_0 = [a]^i d[a] = F_{i+1} d[a]$. Set $\eta = [c_0] d[c_1] \wedge \cdots \wedge d[c_{n-2}] \in \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-2}$, so that $\omega_0 = \eta \wedge F_{i+1} d[a]$. (Remember, here $n \geq 2$.) This

yields

$$\begin{split} f_*\tau_{n,m}^S(\omega_0) &= f_*\tau_{n,m}^S(\eta \wedge F_{i+1}d[a]) = f_*\tau_{n,m}^S(f^*(\eta) \wedge F_{i+1}d[a]) \\ &=^\dagger f_*(\tau_{n-2,m}^S(f^*(\eta)) \wedge \tau_{2,m}^S F_{i+1}d[a]) =^\ddagger f_*(f^*\tau_{n-2,m}^R(\eta) \wedge \tau_{2,m}^S F_{i+1}d[a]) \\ &=^0 \tau_{n-2,m}^R(\eta) \wedge f_*(\tau_{2,m}^S F_{i+1}d[a]) =^1 \tau_{n-2,m}^R \wedge f_*(F_{i+1}\tau_{2,(i+1)m+i}^S d[a]) \\ &=^1 \tau_{n-2,m}^R(\eta) \wedge f_*(F_{i+1}\delta\tau_{1,(i+1)m+i}^S([a])) =^2 \tau_{n-2,m}^R(\eta) \wedge F_{i+1}\delta f_*\tau_{1,(i+1)m+i}^S([a]) \\ &=^3 \tau_{n-2,m}^R(\eta) \wedge F_{i+1}\delta\tau_{1,(i+1)m+i}^R(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([a])) \\ &=^1 \tau_{n-2,m}^R(\eta) \wedge F_{i+1}\tau_{2,(i+1)m+i}^R d(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([a])) =^1 \tau_{n-2,m}^R(\eta) \wedge \tau_{2,m}^R F_{i+1}d(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([a])) \\ &=^\dagger \tau_{n,m}^R(\eta \wedge F_{i+1}d(\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}([a])), \end{split}$$

where the equalities $=^{\dagger}$ hold because $\tau_{n,m}^R$ and $\tau_{n,m}^S$ are morphisms of DGAs, the equality $=^{\ddagger}$ holds by Proposition 5.1, the equality $=^0$ is the projection formula for f_* and f^* , the equalities =¹ hold by (5.4), the equality =² holds by Proposition 4.10, and =³ follows from Lemma 5.8. This shows that ω_0 is traceable to R.

• If
$$n-s-1>1$$
, we set $\omega_0'=\underline{d[a]\wedge\cdots\wedge d[a]}$. By Lemma 2.7, we have $d[a]\wedge d[a]=0$ in $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_S^2$. In particular, $\omega_0'=0$ in $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_S^{n-s-1}$ so that $\omega_0=0$, which is traceable to R . We have

thus shown that $P_{n,m}$ holds. The proof of the proposition is now complete.

6. The proof of the main result

In this section, we complete the proof of our main result, Theorem 1.1. We do this first under the assumption that the base field is infinite and perfect, where we apply the sfs-moving lemma (Theorem 3.6). We then use a pro- ℓ extension argument to prove the result over any perfect field. Finally, the case of imperfect base field is done using the limit arguments of § 4.

6.1 Symbolicity of sfs-cycles

For a while in $\S 6.1$, we suppose that k is an infinite perfect field. We begin with the following description of the de Rham-Witt-Chow homomorphism $\tau_{n,m}^R$ on special kinds of de Rham-Witt forms.

LEMMA 6.1. Let k be an infinite perfect field. Let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Let $m, n \geq 1$ be two integers. Let $a \in R$ and $b_i \in R^{\times}$ for $1 \leq i \leq n-1$. Then

$$\tau_{n,m}^R([a]d\log[b_1]\wedge\cdots\wedge d\log[b_{n-1}])=Z_{a,\underline{b}},$$

where

$$Z_{a,\underline{b}} = \operatorname{Spec}\left(\frac{R[t, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}]}{(1 - at, y_1 - b_1, \dots, y_{n-1} - b_{n-1})}\right).$$

Proof. This is an easy consequence of the fact that τ_{\bullet}^{R} is a morphism of restricted Witt complexes over R (see (5.1)) and it follows exactly by the method used in the computations in [KP16, (7.5)]. Indeed, by recursively applying the fact that τ^R_{\bullet} is a morphism of DGAs, it suffices to show the lemma when n=2.

In this case, we have $au_{2,m}^R([a]d\log[b]) = {}^\dagger au_{2,m}^R([ab^{-1}]d[b]) = au_{1,m}^R([ab^{-1}]) \wedge (\delta \circ au_{1,m}^R([b])),$ where = holds because the Teichmüller lift map is multiplicative. Using the definition of the differential

 δ on additive higher Chow groups (see (4.7)), we have

$$\begin{split} \tau_{1,m}^R([ab^{-1}]) \wedge (\delta \circ \tau_{1,m}^R([b])) &= \left[\operatorname{Spec} \left(\frac{R[t]}{(1-ab^{-1}t)} \right) \right] \wedge \left[\delta \left(\operatorname{Spec} \left(\frac{R[t]}{(1-bt)} \right) \right) \right] \\ &= \left[\operatorname{Spec} \left(\frac{R[t]}{(1-ab^{-1}t)} \right) \right] \wedge \left[\operatorname{Spec} \left(\frac{R[t,y]}{(1-bt,y-b)} \right) \right] \\ &= \Delta_R^* \left(\frac{(R \otimes_k R)[t,y]}{(1-(ab^{-1} \otimes b)t,y-(1 \otimes b))} \right) \end{split}$$

and the last term is equal to $Z_{a,b}$ because $\Delta_R : \operatorname{Spec}(R) \to \operatorname{Spec}(R) \times \operatorname{Spec}(R) \simeq \operatorname{Spec}(R \otimes_k R)$ is induced by the product map $R \otimes_k R \to R$.

PROPOSITION 6.2. Let k be an infinite perfect field. Let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Let $m, n \ge 1$ be two integers. Then every cycle class in $\mathrm{TCH}^n_{\mathrm{sfs}}(R, n; m)$ is in the image of $\tau^R_{n,m}$.

Proof. Let $Z \in \operatorname{Tz}^n_{\operatorname{sfs}}(R,n;m)$ be an irreducible sfs-cycle. By Proposition 3.5, we know that Z is a closed subscheme of $\operatorname{Spec}(R) \times \mathbb{A}^1_k \times \overline{\square}^{n-1}_k$, which is, in fact, contained in $\operatorname{Spec}(R) \times \mathbb{A}^1_k \times \mathbb{A}^{n-1}_k$. Moreover, $\partial Z = 0$ and the ideal I(Z) of Z inside $R[t, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}]$ is given by the equations of the form:

$$P(t) = 0, \quad Q_1(t, y_1) = 0, \dots, Q_{n-1}(t, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}) = 0,$$
 (6.1)

such that if we let $R_0 = R$, $R_1 = R[t]/(P(t))$ and $R_i = R_{i-1}[t_i]/(Q_{i-1})$ for $2 \le i \le n$, then the rings $\{R_i\}_{1 \le i \le n}$ are all smooth semi-local k-algebras such that each extension $R_{i-1} \subset R_i$ is simple.

Let $f_i: \operatorname{Spec}(R_i) \to \operatorname{Spec}(R_{i-1})$ be the induced finite surjective map of smooth semi-local schemes for $1 \leq i \leq n$. They are all flat by [Har77, Exercise III-10.9, p. 276] (or [EGAIV, Proposition (6.1.5), p. 136]). Let $f = f_1 \circ \cdots \circ f_n$.

Let $c^{-1} := t \mod I(Z)$ and $b_i := y_i \mod I(Z)$ for $1 \le i \le n-1$. Note that a consequence of the sfs-property of Z is that $c^{-1}, b_i \in R_n^{\times}$ for all $1 \le i \le n-1$. Let

$$Z_n = \operatorname{Spec}\left(\frac{R_n[t, y_1, \dots, y_{n-1}]}{(1 - ct, y_1 - b_1, \dots, y_{n-1} - b_{n-1})}\right)$$

and let $\eta_n := [c]d \log[b_1] \wedge \cdots \wedge d \log[b_{n-1}]$. It follows that $Z_n \in \operatorname{Tz}^n(R_n, n; m)$ such that $Z = f_*(Z_n)$.

By Lemma 6.1, we have $Z_n = \tau_{n,m}^{R_n}(\eta_n)$. As f_n is a simple extension, Proposition 5.9 implies that we have $f_{n*}\tau_{n,m}^{R_n}(\eta_n) = \tau_{n,m}^{R_{n-1}}(\eta_{n-1})$ for some $\eta_{n-1} \in \mathbb{W}_m\Omega_{R_{n-1}}^{n-1}$. As $f = f_1 \circ \cdots \circ f_n$ and each f_i is a simple extension, by successive applications of f_{i*} and Proposition 5.9, we obtain $Z = f_*(Z_n) = \tau_{n,m}^R(\eta_0)$ for some $\eta_0 \in \mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^{n-1}$.

COROLLARY 6.3. Theorem 1.1 holds over all infinite perfect base fields.

Proof. A combination of Theorem 3.6 and Proposition 6.2 implies that $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is surjective, while Lemma 5.4 implies that $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is injective.

6.2 The finite field case

In §6.2, we prove Theorem 1.1 when the base field is finite. In particular, together with Corollary 6.3, this shows that Theorem 1.1 holds for all perfect fields. We achieve this using a pro- ℓ extension argument.

For a moment, we let k be any field with the exponential characteristic $p \ge 1$, and let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Let $m, n \ge 1$ be two integers. We use the following general result.

LEMMA 6.4. Let $k \hookrightarrow k'$ be a finite separable extension of fields with d := [k' : k] such that (p,d) = 1. Let $f : R \to R_{k'}$ be the base change homomorphism. Then $f^* : \mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m) \to \mathrm{TCH}^n(R_{k'},n;m)$ is injective.

Proof. We write $R' = R_{k'}$. As f is a finite étale morphism of degree d, we have $f_*f^* = d \cdot (\mathrm{Id})$ on $\mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m)$. On the other hand, $\mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m)$ is an $\mathbb{W}_m(k)$ -module (see [KP16, Theorem 6.13]), while $d \in \mathbb{W}_m(k)^{\times}$. This is clear if p = 1. Otherwise, this follows from the fact that $\mathbb{W}_m(k)$ is a $\mathbb{W}_m(\mathbb{F}_p)$ -algebra and the latter is a finite product of rings of the form \mathbb{Z}/p^n . Thus, $(1/d)f_* \circ f^* = \mathrm{Id}$ on $\mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m)$. In particular, f^* is injective.

COROLLARY 6.5. Assume k is a finite field and let k' be a pro- ℓ algebraic extension of k for a prime $\ell \neq p$. Let $f: R \to R_{k'}$ be the base change homomorphism. Then $f^*: \mathrm{TCH}^n(R, n; m) \to \mathrm{TCH}^n(R_{k'}, n; m)$ is injective.

Proof. We can express $k' = \varinjlim_{i \in I} k_i$ for fields k_i indexed by a directed set I, where each k_i is a finite extension of k such that $[k_i : k] = \ell^{N_i}$ for some $N_i \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular, $(p, [k_i, k]) = 1$. We then have $R_{k'} = \varinjlim_{i \in I} R_{k_i}$ and $\text{TCH}^n(R_{k'}, n; m) = \varinjlim_{i \in I} \text{TCH}^n(R_{k_i}, n; m)$ by Lemma 4.6. The assertion of the corollary therefore follows from Lemma 6.4.

LEMMA 6.6. Assume k is a perfect field and let k' be a finite extension of k of degree d such that (d,p)=1. Let $f: R \to R_{k'}$ be the base change homomorphism. Let $\alpha \in \mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m)$ be an element such that $f^*(\alpha) \in \mathrm{Im}(\tau_{n,m}^{R_{k'}})$. Then $\alpha \in \mathrm{Im}(\tau_{n,m}^{R})$.

Proof. We write $R' = R_{k'}$. Note that $R \hookrightarrow R'$ is a finite étale extension. In particular, R' is a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Recall also that a consequence of Witt-complex structures is that $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R'}^{n-1}$ and $\mathrm{TCH}^n(R', n; m)$ are $\mathbb{W}_m(k)$ -modules and $\tau_{n,m}^{R'}$ is $\mathbb{W}_m(k)$ -linear. Let $f^*(\alpha) = \tau_{n,m}^{R'}(\omega')$ for some $\omega' \in \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R'}^{n-1}$. Let $\omega = d^{-1}\omega' \in \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R'}^{n-1}$. This makes sense because $d \in \mathbb{W}_m(k)^{\times}$. Then $\tau_{n,m}^{R'}(\omega) = d^{-1}f^*(\alpha)$.

We also have the push-forward map $f_*: \mathrm{TCH}^n(R', n; m) \to \mathrm{TCH}^n(R, n; m)$ such that $f_* \circ f^* = d \cdot \mathrm{Id}$ on $\mathrm{TCH}^n(R, n; m)$. Using this, we obtain

$$\alpha = f_*(d^{-1}f^*(\alpha)) = f_* \circ \tau_{n,m}^{R'}(\omega).$$

On the other hand, the primitive element theorem implies that $R \hookrightarrow R' = R_{k'}$ is a simple extension of regular semi-local k-algebras essentially of finite type. We can therefore apply Proposition 5.9 to conclude that $\alpha \in \text{Im}(\tau_{n,m}^R)$. This finishes the proof.

Proposition 6.7. Theorem 1.1 holds over all perfect base fields.

Proof. As the map $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is injective by Lemma 5.4, we only need to show that $\tau_{n,m}^R$ is surjective. As we already know that Theorem 1.1 holds for infinite perfect fields by Corollary 6.3, we can now assume that the base field k is finite.

We let k' be a pro- ℓ algebraic extension of k for a prime $\ell \neq p$. Let $f: R \to R_{k'}$ be the base change homomorphism. We write $k' = \varinjlim_{i \in I} k_i$ for fields k_i indexed by a directed set I as in the proof of Corollary 6.5. Let $R_i := R_{k_i} := R \otimes_k k_i$ and $R' := R_{k'}$.

For every $i \in I$, we have a commutative diagram

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{f_{i}^{*}} \mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R_{i}}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \underline{\lim}_{i \in I} \mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R_{i}}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R'}^{n-1}$$

$$\tau_{n,m}^{R} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \tau_{n,m}^{R'} \downarrow$$

$$\text{TCH}^{n}(R, n; m) \xrightarrow{f_{i}^{*}} \text{TCH}^{n}(R_{i}, n; m) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \text{TCH}^{n}(R', n; m)$$

$$(6.2)$$

by Proposition 5.1 such that the composite horizontal arrows on the top and the bottom are f^* . The horizontal top right arrow is an isomorphism by [Rül07a, Proposition 1.16] and the horizontal bottom right arrow is an isomorphism by Lemma 4.6.

Let $\alpha \in \mathrm{TCH}^n(R, n; m)$ be arbitrary. As k' is infinite and perfect, we can write $f^*(\alpha) = \tau_{n,m}^{R'}(\omega)$ for some $\omega \in \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R'}^{n-1}$. It follows that there exist $i \in I$ and $\omega_i \in \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R_i}^{n-1}$ such that $\lambda_i^*(f_i^*(\alpha) - \tau_{n,m}^{R_i}(\omega_i)) = 0$, where $\lambda_i \colon R_i \hookrightarrow R'$ is the inclusion map. We conclude from Corollary 6.5 that $f_i^*(\alpha) = \tau_{n,m}^{R_i}(\omega_i)$. We now apply Lemma 6.6 to deduce that $\alpha \in \mathrm{Im}(\tau_{n,m}^R)$. This finishes the proof.

6.3 The general case

We shall now finish the proof of Theorem 1.1 using a limit argument. Let k be an arbitrary field of exponential characteristic p > 1. Let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. We write $R = \varinjlim_{i \in I} R_i$ as in Lemma 2.3, for a directed system of regular semi-local \mathbb{F}_p -algebras R_i essentially of finite type, whose transition maps are injective and faithfully flat. Let $m, n \ge 1$ be two integers. This leads to the following diagram of restricted Witt complexes over R.

$$\underbrace{\lim}_{i} \mathbb{W}_{m} \Omega_{R_{i}}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\underbrace{\lim}_{i} \tau_{n,m}^{R_{i}}} \underbrace{\lim}_{i} \mathrm{TCH}^{n}(R_{i}, n; m)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$\mathbb{W}_{m} \Omega_{R}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{R}} \mathrm{TCH}^{n}(R, n; m)$$
(6.3)

The left vertical arrow is an isomorphism of restricted Witt complexes by [Rül07a, Proposition 1.16] and the right vertical arrow is an isomorphism of restricted Witt complexes by Lemma 4.6. It follows from Proposition 5.1 that (6.3) is commutative.

Proposition 6.8. Theorem 1.1 holds over all base fields.

Proof. As the result holds for all perfect base fields by Proposition 6.7, to deal with the remaining imperfect base field case we can assume p > 1. In this case, we can use the commutative diagram (6.3). It follows from Proposition 6.7 that $\tau_{n,m}^{R_i}$ is an isomorphism for each $i \in I$. In particular, the top horizontal arrow in (6.3) is an isomorphism. As the two vertical arrows are isomorphisms, we conclude that the bottom arrow $\tau_{n,m}^{R}$ is an isomorphism. The naturality of $\tau_{n,m}^{R}$ follows from Proposition 5.1.

6.4 p-typicalization of additive Chow groups

Let k be any field of exponential characteristic p > 1 and let R be a regular k-algebra essentially of finite type. Let $\mathcal{P} = \{1, p, p^2, \ldots\}$. Recall from (2.3) that there is a direct product decomposition

into the p-typical ones for each $n \geq 1$:

$$\theta_R \colon \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \prod_{n \in I_p} \mathbb{W}_{\mathcal{P} \cap (\underline{m}/n)} \Omega_R^{n-1},$$
 (6.4)

where $\underline{m} = \{1, \dots, m\}$ and I_p is the set of positive integers prime to p. This decomposition is natural in R.

DEFINITION 6.9. Suppose R is semi-local in addition. We can use Theorem 1.1 to define the p-typical additive higher Chow groups as

$$\mathrm{TCH}^{n}(R; p^{i}) := \tau_{n, p^{i-1}}^{R} \circ \theta_{R}^{-1}(\mathbb{W}_{\mathcal{P} \cap p^{i-1}}\Omega_{R}^{n-1}), \tag{6.5}$$

where $W_i\Omega_R^{n-1} = \mathbb{W}_{\mathcal{P}\cap\underline{p^{i-1}}}\Omega_R^{n-1}$ is identified with $\mathbb{W}_{\mathcal{P}\cap\underline{p^{i-1}}}\Omega_R^{n-1} \times \{0\} \times \cdots \times \{0\}$ on the right-hand side of (6.4).

We thus have an immediate application of Theorem 1.1.

COROLLARY 6.10. Let k be a field of exponential characteristic p > 1 and let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. For every $n, i \ge 1$, there is a natural isomorphism of p-typical Witt complexes

$$\tau_{n,p^i}^R \colon W_i \Omega_R^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{TCH}^n(R; p^i).$$
(6.6)

Remark 6.11. One may hope that these p-typical additive higher Chow groups can be defined for a bit more general schemes beyond the semi-local case, e.g. all regular k-schemes essentially of finite type. For this purpose, we may not be able to use Theorem 1.1. We do not know how to do it in general, but at least when k is perfect, we can use Lemmas 4.1 and 4.3 (or Theorem 5.2). Here, $\{TCH^n(R, n; m)\}_{n,m\geq 1}$ forms a restricted Witt-complex over R. When $m=p^{i-1}$, the ring $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ acts on $TCH^n(R, n; p^{i-1})$. We shall define the p-typical additive higher Chow groups of regular k-algebras as follows.

DEFINITION 6.12. Let k be a perfect field of exponential characteristic p > 1 and let R be a regular k-algebra essentially of finite type. For any integers $n, i \ge 1$, we define the p-typical additive higher Chow groups of R to be the $\mathbb{W}_{n^{i-1}}(R)$ -submodule

$$\mathrm{TCH}^{n}(R; p^{i}) := \mathbb{W}_{\mathcal{P} \cap p^{i-1}}(R) \cdot \mathrm{TCH}^{n}(R, n; p^{i-1}), \tag{6.7}$$

where we are regarding the factor $W_i(R) = \mathbb{W}_{\mathcal{P} \cap \underline{p^{i-1}}}(R)$ of $\mathbb{W}_{p^{i-1}}(R)$ in the decomposition (6.4) for n = 1, as an ideal of $\mathbb{W}_{p^{i-1}}(R)$.

The subgroups $\mathrm{TCH}^n(R;p^i) \subset \mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;p^{i-1})$ are natural in R. Note that when R is semi-local and k-perfect, the definitions (6.5) and (6.7) coincide.

7. Applications

In this section, we discuss several applications of Theorem 1.1. Apart from these, we mention that Theorem 1.1 is also an essential part of the proofs of the main results of [GK19] and [GK20]. We fix a field k.

7.1 Crystalline cohomology via algebraic cycles

Let k be a perfect field. It was shown in [KP16, Theorem 4.5] that the additive higher Chow groups form presheaves of abelian groups on the category $\mathbf{SmAff}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ of smooth affine schemes essentially of finite type over k. Using the left Kan extension, these groups extend to presheaves on $\mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ as follows.

For $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$, let $(X \downarrow \mathbf{SmAff}_k^{\mathrm{ess}})$ be the category whose objects are the k-morphisms $X \to A$, with $A \in \mathbf{SmAff}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$. A morphism from $h_1 : X \to A$ to $h_2 : X \to B$, with $A, B \in \mathbf{SmAff}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ is given by a k-morphism $g : A \to B$ such that $g \circ h_1 = h_2$. The category $(X \downarrow \mathbf{SmAff}_k^{\mathrm{ess}})$ is clearly cofiltered (see [KP16, § 4.4]).

For $m \geq 0$, $n, q \geq 1$, and $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$, we let

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{TCH}}^q(X,n;m) := \underset{A \in (X \downarrow \mathbf{SmAff}_{h}^{\mathrm{ess}})^{\mathrm{op}}}{\mathrm{TCH}^q(A,n;m)}.$$

By [KP16, Proposition 4.8], we know that $\widetilde{\mathrm{TCH}}^q(-,n;m)$ is a presheaf on $\mathbf{Sm}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ and $\mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$. There is a natural homomorphism $\alpha_X \colon \widetilde{\mathrm{TCH}}^q(X,n;m) \to \mathrm{TCH}^q(X,n;m)$. This is an isomorphism for $X \in \mathbf{SmAff}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$. We let $\mathcal{TCH}^q(n;m)$ denote the sheaf on the big Zariski site of $\mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ associated to the presheaf $\widetilde{\mathrm{TCH}}^q(-,n;m)$. For $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$, we denote the restriction of $\mathcal{TCH}^q(n;m)$ to the small Zariski site of X by $\mathcal{TCH}^q(n;m)_X$.

Assume now that p > 1. For $n, i \ge 1$ and $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$, using Definition 6.12, we let

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{TCH}}^{n}(X; p^{i}) := \underset{A \in (X \downarrow \mathbf{SmAff}_{k}^{\mathrm{ess}})^{\mathrm{op}}}{\mathrm{TCH}^{n}(A; p^{i})}. \tag{7.1}$$

As the p-typical additive higher Chow groups are presheaves on smooth affine schemes over k, it follows from [KP16, Proposition 4.8] that $\widetilde{\mathrm{TCH}}^n(-;p^i)$ is a presheaf on $\mathbf{Sm}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ and $\mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$. We let $\mathcal{TCH}^n(p^i)$ denote the sheaf on the big Zariski site of $\mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$ associated to the presheaf $\widetilde{\mathrm{TCH}}^q(-;p^i)$. For $X \in \mathbf{Sch}_k^{\mathrm{ess}}$, we denote the restriction of $\mathcal{TCH}^n(p^i)$ to the small Zariski site of X by $\mathcal{TCH}^n(p^i)_X$. The Leibniz rule for the additive Chow higher groups implies that $\mathcal{TCH}^{\bullet}(p^i) := \bigoplus_n \mathcal{TCH}^n(p^i)$ is a subcomplex of $\mathcal{TCH}^{\bullet}(\bullet;p^{i-1})$.

Recall that $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_X^n$ and $W_i \Omega_X^n$ are already sheaves of quasi-coherent $\mathbb{W}_m \mathcal{O}_X$ -modules on the Zariski (in fact, étale) site of X. Moreover, it follows from Theorem 5.2 that there are morphisms between the Zariski sheaves of Witt complexes $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_X^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{TCH}^{\bullet}(\bullet; m)_X[1]$ and the p-typical Witt complexes $W_i \Omega_X^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{TCH}^{\bullet}(p^i)_X[1]$.

We can now state the following result which describes the crystalline cohomology over W(k) defined by Berthelot and Grothendieck [Ber74] in terms of algebraic cycles. This result can therefore be viewed as the cycle-theoretic avatar of the theorem of Bloch [Blo77] which described the crystalline cohomology in terms of algebraic K-theory. Recall that the crystalline cohomology was originally defined by Berthelot and Grothendieck as the cohomology of the structure sheaf $\mathcal{O}_{X,\text{crys}}$ on the complicated crystalline site of X.

Theorem 7.1. Let k be a perfect field of exponential characteristic p > 1. Let X be a smooth quasi-projective scheme over k and $n \ge 0$ an integer. Then there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}^n_{\mathrm{crys}}(X/W) \stackrel{\simeq}{\longrightarrow} \varprojlim_{i \geq 1} \mathbb{H}^{n+1}_{\mathrm{zar}}(X, \mathcal{TCH}^{ullet}(p^i)_X).$$

Proof. By [Ill79, Théorème II.1.4], there is a canonical isomorphism of cohomology groups $H^n_{\operatorname{crys}}(X/W) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \varprojlim_{i\geq 1} \mathbb{H}^n_{\operatorname{zar}}(X,W_i\Omega_X^{\bullet})$. On the other hand, we have a morphism of the inverse

systems of the complexes of Zariski sheaves $W_i\Omega_X^{\bullet} \to \mathcal{TCH}^{\bullet}(p^i)_X[1]$. This is an isomorphism by Corollary 6.10. The theorem now follows.

7.2 Gersten conjecture for additive higher Chow groups

Let k be an arbitrary field. For a presheaf F of abelian groups defined on \mathbf{Sm}_k , the Gersten conjecture for F asks whether the Cousin complex of F is locally exact. The exactness of this

complex plays an important role in the study and applications of the presheaf F. This conjecture is known for many presheaves. For instance, it is known for higher algebraic K-theory by Quillen [Qui73, Theorem 5.11], for Milnor K-theory by Kerz [Ker09], and for the de Rham-Witt complex by Gros [Gro85]. We have the following answer for the additive higher Chow groups. For $X \in \mathbf{Sm}_k$, let $X^{(i)}$ denote the set of codimension i points on X.

Theorem 7.2. Let k be an arbitrary field and let X be a smooth scheme of finite type over k. Then the Cousin complex of the Zariski sheaves of additive higher Chow groups is exact on X. That is, there is an exact sequence of Zariski sheaves

$$0 \to \mathcal{TCH}^{n}(n;m)_{X} \to \coprod_{x \in X^{(0)}} (i_{x})_{*} \mathrm{H}^{0}_{x}(X, \mathcal{TCH}^{n}(n;m)_{X})$$

$$\to \coprod_{x \in X^{(1)}} (i_{x})_{*} \mathrm{H}^{1}_{x}(X, \mathcal{TCH}^{n}(n;m)_{X}) \to \coprod_{x \in X^{(2)}} (i_{x})_{*} \mathrm{H}^{2}_{x}(X, \mathcal{TCH}^{n}(n;m)_{X}) \to \cdots$$

for every $m \ge 0$ and $n \ge 1$.

Proof. As all groups are zero for m=0 by [KP17b, Theorem 1.5], we can assume $m \ge 1$. As $T\mathcal{CH}^n(n;m)_X$ is a Zariski sheaf on X, all maps in the above sequence are well-defined. To show its exactness, we can assume that $X = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$, where R is a smooth local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Using Theorem 1.1, it suffices to prove the exactness for the Cousin complex of $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_X^n$. If p=1, then $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_X^n$ is a direct sum of the sheaves of absolute Kähler differentials for which the exactness is classically known. If p>1 and k is perfect, the exactness follows directly from [Gro85, Proposition 5.1.2, p. 57] and the p-typical decomposition of $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_X^n$.

Suppose now that k is imperfect. Using the p-typical decomposition, it suffices again to prove the theorem for the p-typical de Rham–Witt-complex. We can now use Lemma 2.3 and write $R = \varinjlim_i R_i$, where $\{R_i\}_{i \in I}$ is a direct system of local \mathbb{F}_p -algebras essentially of finite type, such that the transition maps are faithfully flat and the inclusions $R_i \hookrightarrow R$ are also faithfully flat. In particular, the maps $X \to \operatorname{Spec}(R_i)$ are surjective. As we saw in the proof of Lemma 2.3, any prime ideal $\mathfrak{p} \subset R$ is an extension of a prime ideal $\mathfrak{p}_i \subset R_i$ for some $i \in I$. In this case, it is clear that $(R_i \cap \mathfrak{p})R = \mathfrak{p}$. In other words, there is $i \in I$ and a prime ideal $\mathfrak{p}_i \subset R_i$ such that $\mathfrak{p}_i = \mathfrak{p} \cap R_i$ and $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{p}_i R$.

On the other hand, if $\mathfrak{p}_i \subset R_i$ is a prime ideal of height j for any $i \in I$ and $j \geq 0$ and \mathfrak{p} is a minimal prime of $\mathfrak{p}_i R$, then we must have $\mathfrak{p}_i = \mathfrak{p} \cap R_i$. In this case, the flatness of the inclusion $R_i \hookrightarrow R$ and [GW10, Corollary 14.95] together imply that \mathfrak{p} is a prime ideal of R of height j. It follows that $X^{(j)}$ coincides with the inverse limit of $\operatorname{Spec}(R_i)^{(j)}$ where i runs through I. As the cohomology with support commutes with direct limits, it follows that the Cousin complex of $W_m \Omega_R^n$ is a direct limit of the Cousin complexes of $W_m \Omega_{R_i}^n$. However, the exactness of these latter complexes follows from the case of perfect base field shown above.

Using Theorem 1.1 and Proposition 2.8, we deduce the following piece of the Gersten conjecture for the additive higher Chow groups of regular (not necessarily smooth) semi-local k-algebras.

COROLLARY 7.3. Let k be an arbitrary field and R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Let K denote the total ring of quotients of R. Then the canonical map

$$TCH^n(R, n; m) \to TCH^n(K, n; m)$$

is injective for all $m \geq 0$ and $n \geq 1$.

7.3 Applications to algebraic K-theory

Let k be an arbitrary field with the exponential characteristic $p \ge 1$ and let R be a regular semilocal k-algebra essentially of finite type. We can use Theorem 1.1 and the results of [Hes05] to describe the algebraic K-theory of the truncated polynomial algebras over R in terms of algebraic cycles as follows. This shows that the algebraic K-groups of these truncated polynomial algebras are motivic. Using Theorem 1.1, it is shown in [GK19] and [GK20] that the Milnor K-groups of these truncated polynomial algebras are also motivic.

For $m \ge 1$, we let $R_m = R[t]/(t^m)$. Let $K(R_m, (t))$ denote the relative K-theory spectrum for the augmentation ideal $(t) \subset R_m$.

THEOREM 7.4. Let $m \ge 2$ and $q \ge 1$ be two integers.

(i) If p = 1, there is a natural isomorphism

$$K_q(R_m,(t)) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \bigoplus_{n>0} TCH^{q+1-2n}(R,q+1-2n;m-1).$$

(ii) If p > 1, there is a natural long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to \bigoplus_{i \ge 0} \mathrm{TCH}^{q-2i}(R, q-2i; m(i+1)) \xrightarrow{V_m} \bigoplus_{i \ge 0} \mathrm{TCH}^{q-2i}(R, q-2i; i+1)$$

$$\xrightarrow{\epsilon} K_q(R_m, (t)) \to \cdots$$

Proof. Combine Theorem 1.1 with [Hes05, Theorem 10.1, p. 27] for part (i), and with [Hes05, Theorem 12.1, p. 32] for part (ii). \Box

7.4 Milnor K-theory and de Rham-Witt complex

Let k be an arbitrary field and let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. If k is infinite, it is easy to see that the map $d\log:(R^\times)^{\otimes n}\to\Omega_R^n$, given by $a_1\otimes\cdots\otimes a_n\mapsto d\log(a_1)\wedge\cdots\wedge d\log(a_n)$, defines a group homomorphism $K_n^M(R)\to\Omega_R^n$. Even if the existence of this map at the level of de Rham–Witt complex was a folklore, a written proof was provided relatively recently in [GH05, Appendix B]. When R is a field, this map was probably already known to Bloch and Kato [BK86, Corollary 2.8] even if they did not write a proof. As the referee pointed out, the dlog map for general k-algebras can be deduced from the case of fields.

Using Theorem 1.1, we obtain an alternate and simple proof of the existence of dlog map from the Milnor K-theory to the de Rham–Witt complex of regular semi-local k-algebras using algebraic cycles. Recall from § 2.2 that $K_*^M(R)$ denotes the Milnor K-theory in the sense of Gabber and Kerz [Ker10], and it may differ from the classical Milnor K-theory if k is finite.

COROLLARY 7.5. For every $m, n \ge 1$, there is a natural homomorphism

$$d \log \colon K_n^M(R) \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n;$$

$$d \log(\{a_1, \dots, a_n\}) = d \log([a_1]) \wedge \dots \wedge d \log([a_n]).$$

Proof. We have the natural maps

$$\operatorname{CH}^n(R,n) \to \operatorname{CH}^n(R,n) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{TCH}^1(R,1;m) \to \operatorname{TCH}^{n+1}(R,n+1;m),$$

where the first arrow takes an element $\alpha \in CH^n(R, n)$ to $\alpha \otimes \Gamma_{(1-t)}$ (see (4.1)). The second arrow is the cap product map of Corollary 4.9. We denote the composite map by $d \log'$.

By Totaro [Tot92], the map $\{a_1,\ldots,a_n\} \mapsto V(t_1-a_1,\ldots,t_n-a_n)$ defines an isomorphism $K_n^M(F) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{CH}^n(F,n)$ for every field F. By comparing the Gersten resolutions of Milnor K-theory from [Ker10, Proposition 10] and higher Chow groups from [Blo86, Corollary, p. 300] and using the Totaro's theorem for fields, it follows that Totaro's map is also defined for R and yields an isomorphism $\nu_n^R \colon K_n^M(R) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{CH}^n(R,n)$. We remark here that Bloch proved the Gersten resolution when R is smooth over k. However, the argument of Theorem 7.2 easily extends Bloch's theorem to regular algebras.

We therefore get a diagram

$$(R^{\times})^{\otimes n} \to K_n^M(R) \xrightarrow{\nu_n^R} \operatorname{CH}^n(R, n)$$

$$\downarrow^{d \log'} \qquad \downarrow^{d \log'}$$

$$\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n \xrightarrow{\tau_{n+1,m}^R} \operatorname{TCH}^{n+1}(R, n+1; m)$$

$$(7.2)$$

in which ν_n^R is an isomorphism. It is clear from the definitions of various maps that the outer trapezium is commutative (see Lemma 6.1). Note that the classical Milnor K-theory of R surjects onto our Milnor K-theory $K_*^M(R)$ (see § 2.2). This shows that $(R^{\times})^{\otimes n} \to K_n^M(R)$ is surjective. As $\tau_{n+1,m}^R$ is also an isomorphism by Theorem 1.1, it follows that the $d\log$ map factors through the quotient $d\log: K_n^M(R) \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n$ such that

$$d\log' \circ \nu_n^R = \tau_{n+1}^R \circ d\log. \tag{7.3}$$

This finishes the proof.

As $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^n$ is a $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ -module, it follows from Corollary 7.5 that there is a natural map of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ -modules:

$$K_n^M(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n;$$

$$\{a_1, \dots, a_n\} \otimes a \mapsto ad \log([a_1]) \wedge \dots \wedge d \log([a_n]).$$

$$(7.4)$$

We similarly have maps

$$K_{n-1}^M(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{W}_m(R) \xrightarrow{d \log \otimes \mathrm{Id}} \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n$$

where the last map takes $\omega \otimes a$ to $d(a) \wedge \omega$. We thus obtain a map

$$(K_n^M(R) \oplus K_{n-1}^M(R)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n. \tag{7.5}$$

We denote this map by $\gamma_{n,m}^R$.

The following result provides a simple presentation of the de Rham-Witt complex.

COROLLARY 7.6. Assume that either k is infinite or R is local. Let $m, n \ge 1$ be any two integers. Then the map

$$\gamma_{n,m}^R \colon (K_n^M(R) \oplus K_{n-1}^M(R)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n$$

is surjective.

Proof. This follows directly from Corollary 7.5 and [RS18, Proposition 4.7] (if R is local) and [GK19, Lemma 4.3] (if k is infinite).

7.5 Application to motivic cohomology

Let k be an arbitrary field of exponential characteristic p > 1 and let R be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. For $m, i \ge 1$, we have the natural maps

$$\operatorname{CH}^{n}(R,n) \xrightarrow{d \log'} \operatorname{TCH}^{n+1}(R,n+1;p^{i-1}) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{TCH}^{n+1}(R;p^{i}), \tag{7.6}$$

where the second arrow is the quotient map given by the p-typical decomposition of $\mathrm{TCH}^{n+1}(R,n+1;p^{i-1})$ (see (2.3) and (6.5)). We let $\mathrm{TCH}^{n+1}_{\log}(R;p^i)$ denote the image of the composite map in (7.6). Let $\mathrm{H}^a_{\mathcal{M}}(R,\mathbb{Z}/p^i(b))$ denote Voevodsky's mod-p motivic cohomology of R. Another consequence of Theorem 1.1 is the following cycle-theoretic description of this motivic cohomology and Milnor K-theory mod-p.

COROLLARY 7.7. There are natural isomorphisms

$$\mathrm{CH}^n(R,n)/p^i \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{H}^n_{\mathcal{M}}(R,\mathbb{Z}/p^i(n)) \xrightarrow{\simeq} K_n^M(R)/p^i \xrightarrow{\simeq} K_n(R,\mathbb{Z}/p^i) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{TCH}^{n+1}_{\mathrm{log}}(R;p^i).$$

Proof. The field case of the two middle isomorphisms are shown in [GL00, Theorems 8.1, 8.3]. These isomorphisms for R follow from the Gersten resolutions of the underlying groups in [Ker09] and [Ker10]. It suffices therefore to show that $K_n^M(R)/p^i \simeq \text{TCH}_{\log}^{n+1}(R;p^i)$.

We now consider the following commutative diagram.

$$K_n^M(R)/p^i \xrightarrow{\nu_n^R} \operatorname{CH}^n(R,n)/p^i$$

$$d \log \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow d \log' \qquad \qquad (7.7)$$

$$W_i \Omega_R^n \xrightarrow{\tau_{n+1,p^i}^R} \operatorname{TCH}^{n+1}(R;p^i)$$

We have seen previously that ν_n^R is an isomorphism, while τ_{n+1,p^i}^R is an isomorphism by Corollary 6.10. The map $d\log\colon K_n^M(R)\to W_i\Omega_R^n$ of Corollary 7.5 factors through $K_n^M(R)/p^i$ and induces an isomorphism of the latter group onto its image (see [Mor19, Theorems 1.2 and 5.1]). We conclude from the definition of $\mathrm{TCH}_{\log}^{n+1}(R;p^i)$ that $d\log'$ induces an isomorphism $\mathrm{CH}^n(R,n)/p^i \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{TCH}_{\log}^{n+1}(R;p^i)$. This finishes the proof.

7.6 Trace maps for de Rham-Witt complex

As we briefly discussed earlier, there is a theory of trace for the *p*-typical de Rham–Witt forms due to Ekedahl [Eke84]. Using the *p*-typical decomposition, this allows one to obtain trace maps for the big de Rham–Witt forms. However, Ekedahl's trace is obtained using a complicated duality theory for these objects. Consequently, it becomes very hard to work with his trace. Furthermore, it takes a lot of work to check that Ekedahl's trace behaves well with various operators.

Using Theorem 1.1, we can give a much simpler construction of the trace map on the big de Rham–Witt forms for all finite extensions of regular semi-local k-algebras. Our trace is nothing but the easily and explicitly defined push-forward map between the additive higher Chow groups. Furthermore, using this definition, it becomes simple to check all desired properties of the trace map. For instance, we can verify the compatibility of the trace with V and F operators directly because they are simply the pull-back and push-forward on cycles via the map $\phi_r \colon \mathbb{A}^1_k \to \mathbb{A}^1_k$, given by $t \mapsto t^r$.

THEOREM 7.8. Let k be an arbitrary field. Let $f: R \hookrightarrow S$ be a finite extension of regular semilocal k-algebras essentially of finite type. Then there exists a trace map $\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}: \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_S^n \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n$ for every $n \geq 0$ and $m \geq 1$. It is transitive: if $R \subset S \subset S'$ are finite extensions of regular semilocal k-algebras essentially of finite type, then we have $\operatorname{Tr}_{S'/R} = \operatorname{Tr}_{S/R} \circ \operatorname{Tr}_{S'/S}$. Moreover, there is the following commutative diagram.

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{S}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{S}} \mathrm{TCH}^{n}(S, n; m)$$

$$\mathrm{Tr}_{S/R} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow_{f_{*}}$$

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{R}} \mathrm{TCH}^{n}(R, n; m)$$
(7.8)

Proof. We consider the following diagram.

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{S}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{S}} \mathrm{TCH}^{n}(S, n; m)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f_{*}$$

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{R}} \mathrm{TCH}^{n}(R, n; m)$$

$$(7.9)$$

The push-forward map f_* on the level of additive higher Chow groups exists (see e.g. [KL08] or [KP17a]). The two horizontal arrows in (7.9) are isomorphisms by Theorem 1.1. It follows that there is a unique map $\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R} \colon \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_S^{n-1} \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1}$ such that (7.9) is completed to be a commutative diagram. The transitivity of $\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}$ is clear from the corresponding property of the push-forward map on additive higher Chow groups.

Over perfect base fields, we can prove the existence of the trace map without assuming that the underlying rings are semi-local.

THEOREM 7.9. Let k be a perfect field. Let $f: R \hookrightarrow S$ be a finite extension of regular k-algebras essentially of finite type. Then there exists a trace map $\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R}: \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_S^n \to \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n$ for every $n \geq 0$ and $m \geq 1$ satisfying the properties described in Theorem 7.8.

Proof. Let $X = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$, $Y = \operatorname{Spec}(S)$ and $f: Y \to X$ is the corresponding finite map. Recall from § 7.1 that $\mathcal{TCH}^n(n;m)_X$ is the Zariski sheaf on X associated to the presheaf $U \mapsto \operatorname{TCH}^n(U,n;m)$ for $n,m \geq 1$. We let $\widehat{\mathcal{TCH}}^n(n;m)_X$ denote the Zariski sheaf on X associated to the presheaf $U \mapsto \operatorname{TCH}^n(f^{-1}(U),n;m)$.

As the push-forward map f_* on the additive higher Chow groups commutes with flat pull-back, it induces a natural map $f_*:\widehat{TCH}^n(n;m)_X\to TCH^n(n;m)_X$ of Zariski sheaves. It follows from Theorem 5.2 that for $n\geq 1$, there is the following diagram of sheaves on $X_{\rm Zar}$.

$$f_{*}(\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{Y}^{n-1}) \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{Y}} \widehat{\mathcal{TCH}}^{n}(n;m)_{X}$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f_{*}$$

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{Y}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{X}} \mathcal{TCH}^{n}(n;m)_{X}$$

$$(7.10)$$

The two horizontal arrows in (7.10) are isomorphisms of Zariski sheaves on X by Theorem 1.1. It follows that there is a unique map of Zariski sheaves $\operatorname{Tr}_{Y/X}: f_*(\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_Y^{n-1}) \to \mathbb{W}_m\Omega_X^{n-1}$ on X

satisfying the properties described in Theorem 7.8. As the de Rham-Witt forms are quasicoherent Zariski sheaves of $\mathbb{W}_m \mathcal{O}_X$ -modules, the map $\mathrm{Tr}_{Y/X}$ induces the desired trace map

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{S/R} \colon \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_S^n \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{H}^0(X, f_*(\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_Y^{n-1})) \to \operatorname{H}^0(X, \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_X^{n-1}) \xleftarrow{\cong} \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^n$$
 for all $m, n \geq 1$.

Remark 7.10. From the construction of $\text{Tr}_{S/R}$ in Theorems 7.8 and 7.9 and from (4.1), one checks that $\text{Tr}_{S/R}$ coincides with the trace map for the ring of Witt vectors in [Rül07a, Appendix] when we take n=0. It also follows from [Rül07a, Lemma 3.22] that $\text{Tr}_{S/R}$ of Theorem 7.8 coincides with that in Theorem A.2 in the appendix, when R and S are fields. Using the compatibility of Ekedahl's trace with various operators, one knows that his trace coincides with that of Theorem A.2 for fields. Using Proposition 2.8 and Corollary 7.3, one can then check that trace maps of Theorems 7.8 and 7.9 coincide with that of Ekedahl for regular semi-local rings.

7.7 Galois descent for additive higher Chow groups

Let k be an arbitrary field and let k be a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Let k be any finite group. Assume that k acts freely on k as k-algebra automorphisms so that the inclusion k k is finite and étale, where k denotes the ring of invariants. In particular, k is a regular semi-local k-algebra essentially of finite type. Using Theorem 1.1, we can prove the following Galois descent for the Milnor range additive higher Chow groups.

THEOREM 7.11. The inclusion $R^G \hookrightarrow R$ induces an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{TCH}^n(R^G, n; m) \xrightarrow{\simeq} (\operatorname{TCH}^n(R, n; m))^G$$

for all $m \ge 1$ and $n \ge 0$.

Proof. The group G acts on $\mathrm{TCH}^n(R,n;m)$ and $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^n$. As G is finite, it immediately follows from the functoriality of $\tau_{n,m}^R$ (see Proposition 5.1) that it is G-equivariant.

We now let $X = \operatorname{Spec}(R^G)$ and $X' = \operatorname{Spec}(R)$. We let $f: X' \to X$ denote the quotient map. We then have a Cartesian square

$$G \times X' \xrightarrow{\mu} X'$$

$$p_{X'} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f$$

$$X' \xrightarrow{f} X$$

$$(7.11)$$

where $p_{X'}$ is the projection and μ is the G-action map. As f is étale and $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_X^{n-1}$ is an étale sheaf, it follows using the equalizer definition of a sheaf that the canonical map $f^* \colon \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R^G}^{n-1} \to (\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R^{n-1})^G$ is an isomorphism (between $\mathbb{W}_m (R^G)$ -modules).

We now prove the theorem. We let $n \geq 1$ and consider the following diagram.

$$\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R^{G}}^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{R^{G}}} \operatorname{TCH}^{n}(R^{G}, n; m)$$

$$f^{*} \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow f^{*} \qquad (7.12)$$

$$(\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R}^{n-1})^{G} \xrightarrow{\tau_{n,m}^{R}} \operatorname{TCH}^{n}(R, n; m)^{G}$$

This diagram is commutative by Theorem 1.1. The lower horizontal arrow is induced by the G-equivariance of $\tau_{n,m}^R$. The two horizontal arrows are isomorphisms by Theorem 1.1. The left

vertical arrow is an isomorphism as shown above. It follows that the right vertical arrow is also an isomorphism. \Box

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Spencer Bloch for his lessons that guided us during the last decade on this subject, and for his patience and encouragement. We thank James Borger, Hélène Esnault, and Kay Rülling for helpful conversations during this work. We thank Kay Rülling especially for contributing the appendix and for bringing Ekedahl's work to our attention. We thank the editor and the referees for their comments that helped in improving the article.

We acknowledge that part of this work was done during JP's visits to TIFR and AK's visits to KAIST. We thank both the institutions. JP would like to thank Damy for his peace of mind at home throughout the hard time this paper was written.

Appendix A. The de Rham–Witt complex and additive Chow groups over a field: the characteristic 2 case

Kay Rülling¹

The main theorems of [Rül07a] (see also [Rül07b]) were stated only for fields of characteristic other than 2. This originates in the use of [HM04, Theorem 4.2.8] which was only for odd primes. In this appendix, it is explained that thanks to [Cos08], the results of [Rül07a] extend directly to the characteristic 2 case. I thank Amalendu Krishna and Jinhyun Park for the opportunity to detail this extension here.

A.1 Let $(\mathbb{W}_S\Omega_A^{\bullet})_S$ denote the big de Rham-Witt complex from [Hes15], where A is a ring and S is running through all truncation sets. It comes with the maps d, F_n , V_n , restriction, and multiplication. For $m \geq 1$ we set $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_A^{\bullet} := \mathbb{W}_{\{1,\dots,m\}}\Omega_A^{\bullet}$ and for a fixed prime p we denote the p-typical de Rham-Witt complex by $W_n\Omega_A^{\bullet} := \mathbb{W}_{\{1,p,\dots,p^{n-1}\}}\Omega_A^{\bullet}$. Note that, in general, $d \circ d$ is not zero in $\mathbb{W}_S\Omega_A^{\bullet}$. Denote by $\mathbb{W}_S\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^{\bullet}$ the Witt complex from [Hes15, Remark 4.8] (with $k = \mathbb{W}(\mathbb{Z})$); it is the initial object in the category of Witt complexes with $\mathbb{W}(\mathbb{Z})$ -linear differential. Note that $\mathbb{W}_S\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^{\bullet}$ is always a DGA, in particular we have $d \circ d = 0$. Furthermore, if A contains a field, then $\mathbb{W}_S\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^{\bullet} = \mathbb{W}_S\Omega_A^{\bullet}$, see [Hes15, Remark 4.2, c)]. If A is an \mathbb{F}_p -algebra, then the p-typical de Rham-Witt complex is the one from Bloch-Deligne-Illusie. In addition, in case A is an \mathbb{F}_p (or a \mathbb{Q})-algebra, the decomposition

$$\mathbb{W}_{S}\Omega_{A}^{\bullet} = \prod_{(j,p)=1} \mathbb{W}_{\mathcal{P} \cap S/j}\Omega_{A}^{\bullet}, \tag{A.1}$$

from [Rül07a, Theorem 1.11] is valid in the case p=2. (Indeed, in this case the construction of the V-complex in [Rül07a, Proposition 1.2] goes through and the same proof as in [Rül07a, Theorem 1.11] shows that it is the initial object in the category of Witt complexes as in [Hes15] and that it decomposes as in (A.1).)

¹ kay.ruelling@uni-wuppertal.de; Bergische Universität Wuppertal, Fakultät Mathematik und Naturwissenshaften, Gaußstraße 20, D-42119, Wuppertal, Germany. The author is supported by the DFG Heisenberg Grant RU 1412/2-2.

THEOREM A.1 ([Rül07a, Theorem 3.20] for char(k) \neq 2). Let k be a field. There is a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_k^{n-1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathrm{TCH}^n(k, n; m), \quad m, n \ge 1,$$

where the right-hand side is the additive Chow groups of Bloch–Esnault. Furthermore, via this isomorphism, the maps d, F_n , V_n , restriction and multiplication on the de Rham–Witt side correspond to \mathcal{D} , \mathcal{F}_n , \mathcal{V}_n , restriction, and *, on the Chow side, as defined in [Rül07a, Definition-Proposition 3.9].

Thanks to [Cos08], which was not at our disposal when [Rül07a] was written, the proof of [Rül07a, Definition-Proposition 3.9] goes through, also for p = 2. We explain this in more detail in the following. Note that $TCH^n(k, n; m)$ is written as $CH^{n+1}(\mathbb{A}^1_k|(m+1)\cdot\{0\}, n)$ in [Rül07a].

A.2 We fix a prime p. Let A be a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebra and denote by A[x] the polynomial ring in the variable x. Then the group $W_n\Omega^q_{A[x]/\mathbb{Z}}$ (respectively, $W_n\Omega^q_{A[x,1/x]/\mathbb{Z}}$) is freely generated by elements of the following type:

$$\begin{split} a[x]^j, & a \in W_n\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^q, \ j \geq 0 \ (\text{respectively}, \ j \in \mathbb{Z}), \\ b[x]^{j-1}d[x], & b \in W_n\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^{q-1}, \ j \geq 1 \ (\text{respectively}, \ j \in \mathbb{Z}), \\ V^s(a[x]^j), & a \in W_{n-s}\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^q, \ s \in \{1,\dots,n-1\}, \ j \geq 1 \ \text{with} \ (j,p) = 1 \\ & (\text{respectively}, \ j \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus p\mathbb{Z}), \\ dV^s(b[x^j]), & b \in W_{n-s}\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^{q-1}, \ s \in \{1,\dots,n-1\}, \ j \geq 1 \ \text{with} \ (j,p) = 1 \\ & (\text{respectively}, \ j \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus p\mathbb{Z}). \end{split}$$

For A[x] and p odd, this is [HM04, Theorem 4.2.8] and for p=2, this follows from [Cos08, Theorem 4.3] (one has to observe that the functor P constructed in these references sends a $\mathbb{W}(\mathbb{Z})$ -linear p-typical Witt complex over A to a $\mathbb{W}(\mathbb{Z})$ -linear p-typical Witt complex over A[x] and that it preserves surjections). The result for A[x, 1/x] is deduced from this as in [Rül07a, Theorem 2.1], where (at least in the case p=2) the reference to [Rül07a, Proposition 1.18] should be replaced by [Hes15, Theorem C].

THEOREM A.2 ([Rül07a, Theorem 2.6] for char(k) \neq 2). Let L/k be a finite field extension. Then there exists a trace map

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{L/k}: \mathbb{W}_S\Omega_L^{\bullet} \to \mathbb{W}_S\Omega_k^{\bullet},$$

which satisfies properties (i)–(v) from [$R\ddot{u}l07a$, Theorem 2.6]. Furthermore [$R\ddot{u}l07a$, Proposition 2.7] holds.

Proof. The proof for p=2 is the same as in [Rül07a, Theorem 2.6], once we made the following remarks: [Rül07a, Lemma 1.20] also holds for any \mathbb{F}_2 -algebra A with the same proof; [Rül07a, Lemma 2.3] also holds for p=2, this follows from [Ill79, I, Propositions 3.2 and 3.4] and a limit argument; [Rül07a, Proposition 2.4] holds with the same proof also for p=2 once the reference to [Rül07a, Theorem 2.1] is replaced by the first paragraph of § A.2 above.

A.3 Let p be a prime and A a $\mathbb{Z}_{(n)}$ -algebra. For a finite truncation set S, we define

$$\mathrm{Fil}_{S,j} := \mathrm{Ker}(\mathbb{W}_S \Omega^{\bullet}_{A[[t]]/\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathbb{W}_S \Omega^{\bullet}_{A[[t]]/(t^j)/\mathbb{Z}}), \quad j \geq 1,$$

and

$$\mathbb{W}_{S}\hat{\Omega}_{A((t))/\mathbb{Z}}^{\bullet} = \varprojlim_{j} \mathbb{W}_{S}\hat{\Omega}_{A((t))/\mathbb{Z}}^{\bullet}/\mathrm{Fil}_{S,j}.$$

Then any element in $\mathbb{W}_S\hat{\Omega}_{A((t))/\mathbb{Z}}^{\bullet}$ can be uniquely written as in [Rül07a, (2.9.1)], and we can define

$$\widehat{\operatorname{Res}}_{t,n}^q: W_n \widehat{\Omega}_{A((t))/\mathbb{Z}}^q \to W_n \Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^{q-1}$$

as in [Rül07a, (2.9.2)]. (Using § A.2), the proof is similar to that in [Rül07a, Lemma 2.9].) We define $\operatorname{Res}_{t,n}^q$ as the composition

$$W_n\Omega_{A((t))/\mathbb{Z}}^q \xrightarrow{\operatorname{can.}} W_n\hat{\Omega}_{A((t))/\mathbb{Z}}^q \xrightarrow{\widehat{\operatorname{Res}}_{t,n}^q} W_n\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^{q-1}.$$

If A contains a field and S is a finite truncation set, then we define

$$\operatorname{Res}_{t,S}^{q}: \mathbb{W}_{S}\Omega_{A((t))}^{q} \to \mathbb{W}_{S}\Omega_{A}^{q-1} \tag{A.2}$$

as in [Rül07a, Definition 2.11], using that in this case we have $\mathbb{W}_S\Omega_A^{\bullet} = \mathbb{W}_S\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^{\bullet}$ and that the decomposition (A.1) also extends to $\mathbb{W}_S\hat{\Omega}$.

For any $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebra A, the map $\operatorname{Res}_{t,n}^q$ satisfies properties (i)–(viii) of [Rül07a, Proposition 2.12] and [Rül07a, Lemma 2.14] holds. If A contains a field, the same holds for $\operatorname{Res}_{t,S}^q$, S any finite truncation set. (The case $\operatorname{Res}_{t,n}^q$ for p=2 is proven as in [Rül07a, Proposition 2.12], the case $\operatorname{Res}_{t,S}^q$ follows from this. Note, however, that even in the case A contains a field, the proofs use reduction to the torsion-free case. As the absolute de Rham–Witt complex of a torsion-free $\mathbb{Z}_{(2)}$ -algebra is not a DGA, we prefer to work with the $\mathbb{W}(\mathbb{Z})$ -linear complex.)

Remark A.3. For an \mathbb{F}_p -algebra A, the residue $\operatorname{Res}_t: W_n\Omega_{A((t))}^q \to W_n\Omega_A^{q-1}$ was also constructed in [Kat80, § 2, Proposition 3] using algebraic K-theory and Bloch's approach to the de Rham–Witt complex.

THEOREM A.4 ([Rül07b, Theorem 2] for char(k) \neq 2). Let C be a connected regular projective curve over a field k with function field K = k(C). Let S be a finite truncation set. Then

$$\sum_{P \in C} \operatorname{Res}_{P}(\omega) = 0, \quad \text{for all } \omega \in \mathbb{W}_{S}\Omega_{K}^{q}, \ q \ge 1,$$

where the sum is over all closed points in C and $\operatorname{Res}_P: \mathbb{W}_S\Omega_K^q \to \mathbb{W}_S\Omega_k^{q-1}$ is defined as in [Rül07b, Definition-Proposition 1] (using $\operatorname{Res}_{t,S}^q$ from (A.2) and Tr from Theorem A.2.)

Proof. The proofs of [Rül07b, Theorem 2] and [Rül07a, Theorem 2.19] work also for p=2 once we have made the following remarks: the proof of the well-definedness of Res_P is the same as in [Rül07a, Definition-Proposition 2.15] because [Rül07a, Lemma 1.16] holds in general. Proposition 2.18 of [Rül07a] holds with the trace from Theorem A.2. At the end of the proof of [Rül07a, Theorem 2.19] (on pp. 140–141), an element is lifted to $\mathbb{W}_S\Omega^1_{A((t))}$, with $A = \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[z_a, z_b, z_c]$. Replace this by the following argument (at least if p=2): first observe that the desired vanishing can be reduced to the p-typical case by the definition of Res_P. Then lift the element $\omega_{2,P}$ to the $W(\mathbb{Z})$ -linear complex $W_n\Omega^1_{A((t))/\mathbb{Z}}$ and proceed as in the proof using the Res_t from (A.2).

Proof of Theorem A.1. The proof of [Rül07a, Theorem 3.20] (see also [Rül07b]) works also for p=2 once we made the following remarks: in [Rül07a, Lemma 3.5], replace $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_A^r$ by $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_{A/\mathbb{Z}}^r$ (at least if p=2); at the end of the proof of [Rül07a, Theorem 3.6] (on p. 148), refer to

Theorem A.4 instead of [Rül07a, Theorem 2.19]. In [Rül07a, Lemma 3.15], observe that if $\operatorname{char}(k) = 2$, then $\mathcal{DD}(\alpha) = 0$, because in $K_2^M(k)$, we have $\{a, a\} = \{a, -1\} = 0$, and similarly also $\mathcal{F}_r \mathcal{DV}_r = \mathcal{D}$; this implies that [Rül07a, Proposition 3.17] also holds if $\operatorname{char}(k) = 2$. For the rest of the proof of [Rül07a, Theorem 3.20], use Theorem A.2 for properties of the trace and \S A.2 instead of [Rül07a, Theorem 2.1].

References

- And74 M. André, *Homologie des algèbres commutatives*, Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 206 (Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1974).
- Ber74 P. Berthelot, Cohomologie cristalline des schémas de caractéristique p > 0, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 407 (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, New York, 1974).
- Blo73 S. Bloch, On the tangent space to Quillen K-theory, in Algebraic K-theory, I: higher K-theories (Proceedings of the conference, Battelle Memorial Institute, Seattle, WA, 1972), Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 341 (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1973), 205–210.
- Blo77 S. Bloch, Algebraic K-theory and crystalline cohomology, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 47 (1977), 187–268.
- Blo86 S. Bloch, Algebraic cycles and higher K-theory, Adv. Math. **61** (1986), 267–304.
- BE03a S. Bloch and H. Esnault, An additive version of higher Chow groups, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. **36** (2003), 463–477.
- BE03b S. Bloch and H. Esnault, *The additive dilogarithm*, Doc. Math. **Extra Vol.** (2003), 131–155 (Kazuya Kato's fiftieth birthday).
- BK86 S. Bloch and K. Kato, *p-adic étale cohomology*, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. **63** (1986), 107–152.
- BL95 S. Bloch and S. Lichtenbaum, A spectral sequence for motivic cohomology. Preprint (1995).
- Cos08 V. Costeanu, On the 2-typical de Rham-Witt complex, Doc. Math. 13 (2008), 413–452.
- EGAIV A. Grothendieck, Éléments de Géométrie Algébrique IV, Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas, (Seconde Partie), Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 24 (1965), 231.
- Eke84 T. Ekedahl, On the multiplicative properties of the de Rham-Witt complex. I, Ark. Math. 22 (1984), 185–239.
- EM02 P. Elbaz-Vincent and S. Müller-Stach, Milnor K-theory of rings, higher Chow groups and applications, Invent. Math. 148 (2002), 177–206.
- FS02 E. Friedlander and A. Suslin, The spectral sequence relating algebraic K-theory to motivic cohomology, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. **35** (2002), 773–875.
- Ful98 W. Fulton, *Intersection theory*, second edition, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (Springer, Berlin, 1998).
- GH05 T. Geisser and L. Hesselholt, *The de Rham–Witt complex and p-adic vanishing cycles*, J. Amer. Math. Soc. **19** (2005), 1–36.
- GL00 T. Geisser and M. Levine, *The K-theory of fields in characteristic p*, Invent. Math. **139** (2000), 459–493.
- GW10 U. Görtz and T. Wedhorn, Algebraic geometry I, schemes with examples and exercises, first edition, Advanced Lectures in Mathematics (Vieweg + Teubner, Wiesbaden, 2010).
- Gro85 M. Gros, Classes de Chern et classes de cycles en cohomologie de Hodge-Witt logarithmique, Mém. Soc. Math. Fr., 2^e série **21** (1985), 1–87.
- GK19 R. Gupta and A. Krishna, *Relative K-theory via 0-cycles in finite characteristics*, Ann. K-theory, to appear. Preprint (2019), arXiv:1910.06630.

- GK20 R. Gupta and A. Krishna, Zero-cycles with modulus and relative K-theory, Ann. K-theory 5 (2020), 757–819.
- Har77 R. Hartshorne, Algebraic geometry, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 52 (Springer, New York, 1977).
- Hes05 L. Hesselholt, K-theory of truncated polynomial algebras, in Handbook of K-theory, vol. 1 (Springer, New York, 2005), 71–110.
- Hes15 L. Hesselholt, The big de Rham-Witt complex, Acta Math. 214 (2015), 135–207.
- HM01 L. Hesselholt and I. Madsen, On the K-theory of nilpotent endomorphisms, in Homotopy methods in algebraic topology (Boulder, CO, 1999), eds J. P. C. Greenlees, et al., Contemporary Mathematics, vol. 271 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001), 127–140.
- HM04 L. Hesselholt and I. Madsen, On the de Rham–Witt complex in mixed characteristic, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. **37** (2004), 1–43.
- Ill79 L. Illusie, Complexe de de Rham-Witt et cohomologie cristalline, Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. 12 (1979), 501–661.
- Kat80 K. Kato, A generalization of local class field theory by using K-groups. II, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. IA Math. 27 (1980), 603–683.
- Ker09 M. Kerz, The Gersten conjecture for Milnor K-theory, Invent. Math. 175 (2009), 1–33.
- Ker10 M. Kerz, Milnor K-theory of local rings with finite residue fields, J. Algebr. Geom. 19 (2010), 173–191.
- KL08 A. Krishna and M. Levine, *Additive higher Chow groups of schemes*, J. Reine Angew. Math. **619** (2008), 75–140.
- KP12a A. Krishna and J. Park, Moving lemma for additive higher Chow groups, Algebra Number Theory 6 (2012), 293–326.
- KP12b A. Krishna and J. Park, Mixed motives over $kt/(t^m + 1)$, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 11 (2012), 611–657.
- KP15 A. Krishna and J. Park, *DGA-structure on additive higher Chow groups*, Int. Math. Res. Not. **2015** (2015), 1–54.
- KP16 A. Krishna and J. Park, On additive higher Chow groups of affine schemes, Doc. Math. **21** (2016), 49–89.
- KP17a A. Krishna and J. Park, A module structure and a vanishing theorem for cycles with modulus, Math. Res. Lett. **24** (2017), 1147–1176.
- KP17b A. Krishna and J. Park, A moving lemma for cycles with very ample modulus, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 17 (2017), 1521–1549.
- KP20 A. Krishna and J. Park, A moving lemma for relative 0-cycles, Algebra Number Theory 14 (2020), 991–1054.
- Lev08 M. Levine, The homotopy coniveau tower, J. Topol. 1 (2008), 217–267.
- Lod98 J.-L. Loday, *Cyclic homology*, second edition, Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, vol. 301 (Springer, Berlin, 1998).
- Mat86 H. Matsumura, *Commutative ring theory*, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, vol. 8 (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1986).
- Mor19 M. Morrow, K-theory and logarithmic Hodge-Witt sheaves of formal schemes in characteristic p, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Supér. **52** (2019), 1537–1601.
- Par09 J. Park, Regulators on additive higher Chow groups, Amer. J. Math. 131 (2009), 257–276.
- Pop86 D. Popescu, General Néron desingularization and approximation, Nagoya Math. J. 10 (1986), 85–115.

- Qui70 D. Quillen, On the (co)-homology of commutative rings, in Applications of categorical algebra, New York, 1968, Proceedings of Symposia in Pure Mathematics, vol. 17 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1970), 65–87.
- Qui73 D. Quillen, Higher algebraic K-theory I, in Algebraic K-theory, I: higher K-theories (Proceedings of the Conference, Battelle Memorial Institute, Seattle, WA, 1972), Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 341 (Springer, Berlin, 1973), 77–139.
- Rüllo7a K. Rülling, The generalized de Rham-Witt complex over a field is a complex of zero-cycles, J. Algebr. Geom. 16 (2007), 109–169.
- Rül07b K. Rülling, Erratum to "The generalized de Rham-Witt complex over a field is a complex of zero-cycles", J. Algebr. Geom. 16 (2007), 793–795.
- RS18 K. Rülling and S. Saito, *Higher Chow groups with modulus and relative Milnor K-theory*, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **370** (2018), 987–1043.
- Stacks The Stacks Project Authors, Stacks Project, https://stacks.math.columbia.edu.
- Swa98 R. Swan, Néron-Popescu desingularization, in Algebra and geometry, Taipei, 1995, Lecture Notes Algebraic Geometry, vol. 2 (International Press, Cambridge, MA, 1998), 135–192.
- Tot92 B. Totaro, Milnor K-theory is the simplest part of algebraic K-theory, K-theory 6 (1992), 177–189.

Amalendu Krishna amal@math.tifr.res.in

School of Mathematics, Tata Institute of Fundamental Research, 1 Homi Bhabha Road, Colaba, Mumbai, India

Jinhyun Park jinhyun@mathsci.kaist.ac.kr, jinhyun@kaist.edu

Department of Mathematical Sciences, KAIST, 291 Daehak-ro Yuseong-gu, Daejeon, 34141, Republic of Korea (South)